

Job Manager and Marketing Data Hub

Administration Manual

Version 7.2

ΕN

22 March 2022

10060000001

Table of Contents

1	U	Jseful information for getting started				
	1.1	Disp	ay, technical, and unique name	9		
	1.2	Data	sheets	. 11		
	1	.2.1	Change history	. 12		
	1.3	Inhe	ritance for sub jobs and sub data objects	. 13		
	1.4	Loca	lization	. 14		
	1	.4.1	Configuring localization	. 14		
	1	.4.2	Locales	. 15		
		1.4.2.1	Configuring or Changing the Locale	. 16		
		1.4.2.2	Deleting a Locale	. 17		
	1.5	Sync	hronization	. 17		
2	R	equired	work steps	. 18		
	2.1	Jobs	and Data Objects	. 18		
	2.2	Proc	esses	. 19		
	2.3	Туре	s	. 20		
	2	.3.1	Properties	. 21		
	2	.3.2	Managing Types	. 24		
		2.3.2.1	Creating a type	. 24		
		2.3.2.2	Editing types	. 25		
		2.3.2.3	Copying a type	. 26		
		2.3.2.4	Localize display name	. 27		
		2.3.2.5	Deleting types	. 28		
	2	.3.3	Adding a sub-job or sub data object	. 28		
	2	.3.4	Export and import of process types	. 28		
		2.3.4.1	Export of a process type	. 29		
		2.3.4.2	Import of a process type	. 29		
	2.4	Assig	ning a workflow	. 31		
	2	.4.1	Assigning classic workflows	. 31		
	2	.4.2	Classic workflow for job or data object types	. 32		
	2	.4.3	Create a BPMN workflow for a process	. 33		
	2.5	Man	aging a data sheet layout	. 34		
	2	.5.1	Visibility of a data sheet tab	. 36		
	2.6	Man	aging Variables	. 37		

	2.6.	1	Grouping variables	. 37
-	2.7 Visi		pility of variables	. 38
-	2.8	Wor	kflow messages	. 39
	2.9	Туре	e categories	. 41
	2.9.	1	Creating a type category	. 41
	2.10	Con	figuring the object ID	. 42
	2.10).1	Editing the format of the object ID	. 43
	2.11	Defa	ault types	. 44
	2.12	Sett	ings	. 44
	2.13	Task	Templates	. 46
	2.13	8.1	Creating a task template	. 46
	2.14	Pub	lishing changes	. 48
	2.14	1.1	Validation	. 49
	2.14	1.2	Publishing changes immediately	. 50
	2.14	1.3	Scheduling a publication	. 51
	2.14	1.4	Changing a scheduled publication	. 52
	2.14	1.5	Canceling a scheduled publication	. 53
	2.14	1.6	Discarding changes	. 53
	2.14	1.7	Failed publication	. 54
3	BPN	1N w	orkflow	. 55
3	3.1	Layo	out of the Editor	. 56
	3.1.	1	Workflow Modeler	. 56
	3.1.	2	Editor for e-mail templates	. 58
3	3.2	Ava	lable elements	. 60
	3.2.	1	Start event	. 60
	3.2.	2	End event	. 60
	3.2.	3	De-archive event	. 60
	3.2.	4	User task	. 62
	3.2.	5	Sending tasks	65
	3.2.	6	Service tasks	65
	3.2.	7	Intermediate Event Throw Message	. 66
	3.2.	8	Intermediate Event Catch Message	. 66
	3.2.	9	Sub-Actions	. 66
	3.2.	10	Gateways	. 71

	3.2.11		Sequence flow	71
	3.	2.12	Comments	72
	3.3	Crea	ating a BPMN workflow	73
	3.	3.1	Adding elements	73
	3.	3.2	Connecting elements	74
	3.3.3		Positioning elements	75
	3.	3.4	Editing elements	76
	3.	3.5	Deleting elements	77
	3.	3.6	Editing a view	78
	3.4	E-M	ail templates	79
	3.	4.1	Creating an e-mail template	79
	3.	4.2	Editing an e-mail template	79
	3.	4.3	Deleting a German e-mail template	80
	3.5	Esta	blishing conditions	81
	3.	5.1	Exclusive gateway: Using a number	81
	3.	5.2	Exclusive gateway: Using a custom structure	82
	3.	5.3	Inclusive gateway: Using a custom structure	83
	3.6	Sim	plified view	84
	3.7	Sett	ing up visibility and editability	85
	3.8	Мог	nitoring	86
4	A١	vailable	variables	87
	4.1	Cust	tom variables	87
	4.	1.1	Action	87
	4.	1.2	User	88
	4.	1.3	Description text	89
	4.	1.4	Datepicker with/without time	90
	4.	1.5	Document Selector	92
	4.	1.6	Single-select and multi-select	94
	4.	1.7	Single input line and Multiline input area	97
	4.	1.8	Enter multiple values	. 100
		4.1.8.1	Examples of regular expressions	. 102
	4.	1.9	Combo box	. 102
	4.	1.10	Link	. 105
	4.	1.11	Asset Selector	. 106

4	4.1.12	Adv	anced Grid	108
4	4.1.13	Com	nfort Grid	112
	4.1.13	.1	Data Types	112
	4.1.13	.2	Summary row	112
	4.1.13	.3	Formula variables	113
	4.1.13	.4	Grid Parameters	118
	4.1.13	.5	Grid Variables	119
4	4.1.14	Неа	ding	123
4	4.1.15	Refe	erence/Relation	124
4	4.1.16	Tem	າplate	126
4	4.1.17	Nun	nbers	128
4.2	Syst	tem v	ariables	130
	4.2.1	Task	< Manager	132

Copyright

Specifications and data contained in this document are subject to change without prior notice. The names and data used in the examples are fictitious unless stated otherwise. No part of this document may be reproduced or made available for any purpose and in any way by whatever means, be it electronically or mechanically, without the express written permission of BrandMaker GmbH.

© BrandMaker GmbH. All rights reserved.

Rüppurrer Straße 1, 76137 Karlsruhe (Germany), www.brandmaker.com

All brands mentioned are the sole property of their respective owners.

Your feedback is important to us!

We would be grateful to be notified of any errors you may discover. Just send us an e-mail to <u>documentation@brandmaker.com</u>.

1 Useful information for getting started

This provides you with tips and information that will help you to efficiently carry out tasks related to the Job Manager or Data Hub. The manual is aimed towards specialist administrators and provides a full overview of the configuration and functions of the Job Manager and Data Hub. Please note that the default module name for the Marketing Data Hub is *Data Hub*.

Jobs, processes, and data objects

Jobs and processes are managed in the *Job Manager* module. Jobs are combined with a classic workflow, processes with a BPMN workflow. Jobs and processes represent standardized workflows in your company.

In the *Data Hub* module, users manage data objects, which are always combined with a classic workflow. In data objects, a standardized workflow captures data that can be used, for example, as a data source for other modules.

Classic workflows and tasks

One or more classic *workflows* are assigned to each job and each data object. A classic workflow consists of several *workflow steps*. The administrator assigns a user group to each workflow step when creating the classic workflow. The user selects a responsible person from the user group when forwarding the item to the next workflow step. In addition, *tasks* can be added to each workflow step so that typical activities are created automatically when the job is created.

BPMN workflows

BPMN stands for **B**usiness **P**rocess **M**odel and **N**otation and is used for the graphical representation of business processes. A process is always combined with a BPMN workflow, and the workflow is represented in BPMN notation.

Task Templates

Tasks that are used frequently can be saved as task templates and used again. To use a task template with a workflow, the number of workflow steps must match the number of task steps created in the task template.

Custom objects and structures

You can use custom objects and structures to create boilerplate texts, for example, that you can use to edit a document in *Brand Template Builder* module. In addition, the values for a dropdown list can be loaded from a custom structure.

Variables

Different variable types are used to allow you to group together and output data and information. The variables are placed on a data sheet using drag and drop. There are two different types of variables:

- Variables created automatically that allow you to use the basic functions, for example, for displaying the creator or the current workflow step.
- Variables that can be created individually (text fields, selection fields, or an asset selector, for example) can be created and configured as required.

Categories

To arrange the types, you can create categories and assign the types to one or more categories. When users create a new job or data object, they choose the required types from the overview, which is sorted by category.

Jobs/processes and sub-jobs/processes

A *job* or process groups together all of the information required to carry out a task (for example, the creation of a new campaign). Additional required tasks can be mapped as *sub-jobs* or sub-processes. A sub-job or sub-process can use a different workflow that is independent of the job. Sub-jobs and or sub-processes allow you to structure workflows and make dependencies between different workflows recognizable.

Note

It is possible to create a synchronization between jobs or processes of a certain type and corresponding planning elements in Marketing Planner. This synchronization is set up by BrandMaker. If you have any questions, please contact your BrandMaker contact person.

Products and sub data objects

A *data object* groups together all of the information related to a data object. If the data object consists of multiple parts, they can be represented through *sub data objects*. A sub data object can use a different workflow that is independent of the data object. Sub-data objects allow you to copy the data object structure precisely.

User

The access to and visibility of tabs and the field functions (variables) placed on them can be restricted when you configure the type for each workflow step. For this, users are divided up according to *Assignee/Processor, Creator, Other participants* and *Anonymous*. The user role to which you belong determines the datasheet tabs and variables that you can view or edit.

User	Description
Assignee/Processor	You are the (current) assignee/processor of a job, process, or data object if you are responsible for the current workflow step.
Creator	You are the creator (owner) of a job, process, or data object if you have created the job or data object. The creator can be changed at a later stage.

User	Description
Participant	You are a participant if you were once the processor of the job or if you are invited to be a participant in the job. As a participant, you are not responsible for the current workflow step, but you can follow the progress of the job, process, or data object. Participants can be added to a discussion.
Anonymous	Anonymous users are any users who are not the creator, assignee/processor, or participant, but who can still access a job, process, or data object. In general, anonymous users only have read access to variables.

1.1 Display, technical, and unique name

Each type and each custom variable have three different names:

- Name displayed
- Technical Name
- Unique Name

Property	Display Name	Technical Name	Unique Name
Usage	The display name is the name that is used to show the type or variable on the interface and that is used for the inheritance. You can create the display name in various languages.	The technical name is used to operate objects via interfaces of external systems (for example, via REST). The technical name is also used for grouping variables.	_
Input	You enter the display name when you create a type or variable.	The technical name and unique name are derived and created from the displayed name when you create a type or custom variable.	
Change The display name can be changed and edited in any way.		The technical name can be changed.	The technical name cannot be changed.
RestrictionsThere are no restrictions for the display name. However, long names may not be displayed in full under certain circumstances.		The characters [a-z], [0-9], and [_] are used for the name.	

Property	Display Name	Technical Name	Unique Name	
Derivation		 If the display name begins with a number, the name "type_" is prefixed to the technical name. Space characters are replaced with an underscore "_". Umlauts and special characters are removed. Uppercase letters are replaced by lowercase letters. 	• Like technical name; additionally restricted to a maximum of 24 characters.	
		 Restricted to a maximum of 255 characters. 		
Uniqueness	The display name can be used multiple times for each type.	The technical name and unique each type. If multiple variable same display name are entere added during the derivation (f price_2).	te name must be unique for s of the same type with the ed, consecutive numbering is for example, price_1,	

1.2 Data sheets

All of the information about a job or data object is collected and mapped on a *data sheet*. You can group together the different variables clearly on various tabs and place them easily using drag and drop.

Among others, the following information is displayed on the data sheet:

- The users who are involved/participating in the job or data object
- The current state (the current workflow step)
- The creator and the current assignee
- The predefined project workflow for the job or data object, including any tasks that have been defined
- The relevant information for the job or data object

Note: The appearance of the data sheet can be defined to suit the purposes of individual customers. Among others, the appearance is determined by the number of tabs created, their names, and the field functions that are used on them. The *Basic Data* and *Comments* tab are created automatically; they can be renamed but *cannot* be removed. You can hide the *Comments* tab.

RWARD JOB > _ Pending Submittal Initial R	view and Appr Purchase Order Genera Creative Produ	workFLOW
asic Data* Attachments 🐟 Comments 🖀 Po	rticipanta 🖩 Workflow 🧐 History 👍 Sub Jobs	🗭 Job Discussion 🛛 😂 Details
Job Name #	Job Type *	Add comment
Product fotos	Campaign Request	B I U S I. := :=
		an <u>A</u>
20.00	Workflow *	
655	Campaign Request Workflow	
635 C	Creator	
Description	🛎 John Admin	A Few Months Ann
B I U Ω A- := :=		
We need product false for the new compaise	Assignee(s)	
the news provides make an and new comparyit.	a John Admin	A John Admin com
	Job State	10 00,0018 1000 duct fotos
	Dending Submittel	Kato lemand mir lof

1.2.1 Change history

You can use the change history to track when an object is processed or edited. The recording of the time required is also entered.

In the upper area of the open data sheet, choose *Menu > Show change history* to open the change history in a new dialog box. The following information is displayed in a table overview:

- Change ID: Consecutive numbering of the changes (only with Job Manager)
- Timestamp: The time at which the change was made
- User: The name of the user who added or edited a comment or discussion
- *Type*: The type of editing or change (for example, the addition of a new comment)
- *Locale*: This column is not relevant in Job Manager.
- Old value: The original value of the edited variable
- *New value*: The new value of the edited variable
- *Variable name*: The name of the variable or discussion that was edited. Select the line to display the new and old value in the lower area of the dialog window.

Click *Export log* to export the change history as an XLSX file.

Basic Data	Attachments	🙊 Comments	嶜 Participants	s 📰 Workflo	ວw 🤊 Histo	ory 🎄 Sub Jobs		
CHANGE ID	TIMESTAMP	USER	TYPE	LOCALE	OLD VALUE	NEW VALUE	VARIABLE NAME	•
Change I	D: 7: 12/07/2018 10):26 changed Task "/	Admin, John" in the 、	Job "New Produc	t X"			Â
7	12/07/2018	Admin, John	Added com				Comments: null	
Change I	D: 6: 12/07/2018 10):26 changed Task "/	Admin, John" in the .	Job "New Produc	t X"			
6	12/07/2018	Admin, John	Job approve		John Admin	John Admin		
Change I	D: 4: 12/07/2018 10):26 changed Task "/	Admin, John" in the 、	Job "New Produc	t X"			~
OLD VALUE				NEW V	ALUE			
L	L EXPORT LOG							

1.3 Inheritance for sub jobs and sub data objects

Sub-jobs and sub data objects can inherit values from a parent job or data object. If the values in the parent job or data object change (for example, a deadline), the value is also updated in the sub-job or sub data object. In the sub-type, you can configure the following options using the *Inheritance* selection box:

No inheritance		
No inheritance		
Single parent		
Multiple parents		

Note: Note that the inheritance can be created only when you create a new sub-job type or sub data object type. The *Inheritance* field cannot be changed at a later stage!

- *No inheritance*: In this case, variables of the sub-type do not inherit a value from a parent job or data object.
- *Single parent*: The variables can inherit; however, only one single type is permitted as the parent type. Define the parent types from which the inheritance is carried out for the subjob or sub data object. In this case, you are given the option of specifying the parent type variable that must be inherited directly when creating the variables (see screen shot). If you use a large number of inherited variables, the consistent application of this method provides you with significant performance benefits.

Modify Variable		×
Inherit from parent		
Type*	Please select	<i>l</i> .,
		Chara Court
		Close Save

Multiple parents: Select this option if the parent types from which a sub-type inherits cannot be clearly defined. For example, the *Translation* sub-job can be permitted for both the parent job types *Brochure, Manual*, and *Flyer*. Activate the option *Inherit from parent* in the sub-type for the inheriting variable. In this case, the link is established via the display name, which must be identical for the variable in the parent type and sub-type. On the data sheet the user can break the inheritance at the inheriting variable. In this case, the last inherited value remains in the sub-job or sub data object, even if the value is changed in the parent job or data object. Choose the button in the sub-type to restore the inheritance.

1.4 Localization

Note: Note that you can only use this function in the Data Hub.

You use the *Localization* function to adapt data objects to the conditions of regional markets in the Data Hub. A localized data object contains a separate data sheet that is adjusted to local conditions and that uses an ID for each locale. You edit each data sheet in a separate workflow and can select different workflow types for each localized data sheet. This is significant, for instance, if there are different legal requirements in the territories and a legal check or certification is required.

You can use different workflow types to define different rights and visibilities for the required fields for each locale.

In order to enter values that are identical for a data object in each locale just once, flag the variable as language-neutral. Examples here include international data object names or technical data in standardized measurement systems (for instance, measurements in the metric system, weight specifications in kilograms).

You can also create sub data objects for localized data objects that inherit their values. Note that inheritance is only possible between localized parent data objects and localized sub data objects: The sub data object variant for *Spain* inherits its values from the parent data object variant *Spain*.

1.4.1 Configuring localization

Follow the process below to configure the localization. Follow all the required steps for setting up the Data Hub module (see page 18):

- 1. Create the required locales (for Locales see page 1514).
- 2. Define the required workflows. For more information, see the configuration manual.
- 3. Create a data object type (*module name = Product Manager*) for which the *Localization* checkbox is activated (see chapter 2.3).

Note: Note that the *Localization* field can only be edited when you create a type.

- 4. Assign all workflows required for the localized data object to the type (for Type configuration see page 20).
- 5. Create the variables that are used for this data object type. For variables that are identical for each locale, activate the *Shared value* checkbox (for variable descriptions see page 87).
- 6. Publish the changes (see Publishing changes on page 48).

1.4.2 Locales

You can use the locale to describe the territories that are relevant to you using a small amount of data. You can enter the following values:

- Name: The unique ID of the locale.
 Warning! Entering other characters as digits leads to errors! Use consecutive numbering that continues the numbering from the last created territory.
- Name displayed: Include the names that you want to use in the various languages for the locale. Use the following structure: ~{language code}name
 Enter multiple names one after the other. Note that you only have to enter the translations for the interface languages of your BrandMaker system.
 - Language code: language code according to ISO 639-1 in uppercase (for example, EN for English, DE for German).
 - *Name*: name of the locale that is displayed in the selection list in the data sheet of the localized data object.
 - Example: The Spain entry in the languages English, German, and French: ~{EN}Spain~{DE}Spanien~{FR}Espagne

• Attributes:

Name	Function	Edit
uniqueName	Unique name, which must be unique within the locale	Mandatory field
scriptCode	The character set used for print characters (for example, Cyrillic or Simplified Chinese)	_
numbers	The character set used for numbers	_
languageCode	Language code according to ISO 639-1 in lowercase	Mandatory field
image	Load an image to represent the territory visually. If the field is empty, the flag for the selected country code is displayed if it is stored by default.	Optional
default	Standard locale setting: true = the locale is the standard locale. false = the locale is not the standard locale. Warning! Only one locale must be flagged as the default locale at all times.	_
currency	Currency entry for the locale	_
countryCode	Enter the country code of the territory	Mandatory field
collationParameter, collation	Parameter for setting the character sorting in the relevant language	_

Name	Function	Edit
calendar	Calendar form, such as the Gregorian calendar	_

1.4.2.1 Configuring or Changing the Locale

- 1. Choose > Administration > Data Structures & Workflows > Custom Objects & Structures > Custom Objects.
- 2. In the Select custom structure selection list, select the structure L10N Locale (L10N Local).
- 3. Choose Select.
- 4. To create a new locale: In the *Create new custom object* field, enter the name of the new locale. Choose *Create*.
 - OR

To change an existing locale: In the *Choose available custom object* selection list, select an existing locale.

- 5. Mandatory: you always edit the following fields:
 - Name

Caution! Use consecutive numbering that continues the numbering from the last created territory.

- Name displayed
- Attribute *uniqueName*
- Attribute language code
- Attribute country code
- 6. Optional: edit the following fields:
- Attribute *default* for the locale that is the standard locale.
- *Optional*: Attribute *image*
- 7. Choose *Save* at the end of the attribute list.

You have configured the locale. Repeat the process if additional locales are required.

1.4.2.2 Deleting a Locale

Warning! Data loss! Do not delete any locales that are being used in *Brand Template Builder* module.

- 1. Choose > Administration > Data Structures & Workflows > Custom Objects & Structures > Custom Objects.
- 2. In the Select custom structure selection list, select the structure L10N Locale(L10N Locale).
- 3. Choose Select.
- 4. In the *Select available custom object* selection list, select an existing locale.
- 5. Click the *Delete* button below the attributes.

You have deleted the locale.

1.5 Synchronization

Basically, it is possible to set up a job type so that planning elements are created, or data is synchronized in the Marketing Planner when the job is edited. For this purpose, the data sheet of the job type must be configured accordingly so that the position in the element tree as well as basic data is mapped correctly. In addition, for the combination of job type and workflow it is defined in which workflow steps the data is updated in the Marketing Planner when saving the job. You can also define whether the planning element is deleted if the job is canceled or deleted.

Note

This synchronization is set up by BrandMaker. If you have any questions, please contact BrandMaker.

2 Required work steps

You must perform a range of work steps for the configuration. Please note that the process differs based on whether you are using a conventional workflow created with the previous function or a BPMN workflow.

2.1 Jobs and Data Objects

Prerequisite

- You have created users and a user group.
- You have created a workflow.

Note the detailed descriptions for users, user groups, and workflows in the configuration manual.

Step by step

The following work steps are required or can be carried out as options for the configuration of Job Manager and Data Hub:

- 1. Create a new type and assign a module (see chapter 2.3).
- 2. Link the types with one or more workflows (see chapter 2.3.4).
- 3. Design data sheets for a type (see chapter 2.5).
- 4. Create and define variables (see chapter 2.6).
- 5. Optional: Define conditions for displaying a variable and access rights for variables for each workflow step (see chapter 2.6.1).
- 6. Optional: Define variables for the e-mail notification (see chapter 2.8).
- 7. Optional: Create a category (see chapter 2.9).
- 8. Optional: Configure the format of the unique object numbers (see chapter 2.10).
- 9. Optional: Define the default type for new jobs and data objects (see chapter 2.11).
- 10. Optional: Configure the settings for the Only Briefing type and theme navigation (see chapter 2.12).
- 11. Optional: Create and manage templates for the Task Manager variable (see chapter 2.13).
- 12. Publish changes (see chapter 2.14).

2.2 Processes

Prerequisite

- You have created users and a user group.
- You have created the custom structures required for your decisions.

Note the detailed descriptions for users, user groups, and workflows in the configuration manual.

Step by step

- 1. Create new types and assign a module (see chapter 2.3.1).
- 2. Design the data sheets for a type (see Designing the data sheet layout in chapter 2.5).
- 3. Create and define variables (see Creating and managing variables in chapter 2.6).
- 4. *Optional*: Define conditions for displaying a variable and access rights for variables for each workflow step (see Rights and visibilities of variables in chapter 2.7).
- 5. Create a BPMN workflow for the type (see BPMN workflow in chapter 3).
- 6. *Optional*: Define variables for the e-mail notification (see E-mail notification in chapter 2.8).
- 7. Optional: Create categories (see Type categories in chapter 2.9).
- 8. *Optional*: Configure the format of the unique object numbers (see Object number configuration in chapter 2.10).
- 9. *Optional*: Define the default type for new jobs and data objects (see Default types in chapter 2.11).
- 10. *Optional*: Configure the settings for the *Only Briefing* type and theme navigation (see Settings in chapter 2.12).
- 11. *Optional*: Create and manage templates for the *Task Manager* variable (see Managing task templates in chapter 2.13).
- 12. Validate the created type (see chapter 2.14.1).
- 13. Publish changes (see Publish changes in chapter 2.14).

2.3 Types

The type is the central element of the datasheet Engine. The type determines which basic data is created for a job, a process, or a data object. You create types under > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Types – New.

Notes

Navigating from the Administration home page by clicking on the Jobs & Data Hub tile will initially still take you to the old-fashioned type view, as it is at the top of the list on the left sidebar.

The previous page for managing types under > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Types continues to exist as a fallback solution for the time being. As of version 7.3, type creation is only supported in the modern user interface and the old version disappears for good.

The tables on both pages are synchronized so that you see the same objects on both pages. Note that processes created on the *Types - New* page will show up as jobs on the *Types* page.

Also, only the following actions are available on the respective pages in the current version:

- *Create and Edit Types*: You can create and edit types on both pages. However, BrandMaker recommends that you create new types exclusively on the > *Types New* page.
- Copy types: (for *Types New* directly in the creation dialog instead of in the list view).
- *Delete types*: Execution is recommended in the *Types New* list view. Processes cannot be deleted at the moment, so they lack the i icon.

To be able to reach both pages, your role must be assigned the MANAGE_TYPES permission.

2.3.1 Properties

The following table shows the properties of the job and data object types. A process has the same properties as a job except for the inheritance function.

Note that you set the *Name* (and thus the displayed name), *Type, Inheritance,* and for Data Objects, the *Localization* property when you create them. Type and inheritance cannot be changed after their creation.

Name	Description
(Displayed) name	Define the name that is visible to users. You can create the displayed name in different language versions.
Туре	The type determines which basic data is created for a job, a process, or a data object.
Inheritance	Note: that inheritance can only be created while you create a new type. The <i>Inheritance</i> property cannot be changed afterwards! The function can only be used for jobs and data objects.
	Configure the inheritance:
	• <i>No inheritance</i> : No datasheet variable inherits values from a parent datasheet.
	• <i>Single parent datasheet</i> : Only one job type is available as a possible parent datasheet.
	• <i>Multiple parents datasheet</i> : Multiple job types are available as possible parent datasheets.
	Refer also to the Chapter 1.3.
Localization	Note: Can only be activated when creating a new data object type.
	Select the checkbox at <i>Enable localization</i> if you want to create localized variants of a data object.
	See Localization, chapter 1.4.
Unique name, technical	Note: Only accessible in the editing dialog box.
name	See Display, technical, and unique name, chapter 1.1
Description	Note: Only accessible in the editing dialog box.
	Enter additional information about the type that is displayed when it is created.
Categories	Note: Only accessible in the editing dialog box.
	Select the categories to which the type is assigned. When the item is being created, the types are displayed in categories.

Name	Description
Type can only be selected by	Note: Only accessible in the editing dialog box. Specify which organizational unit, user group or VDB group can select the types. Note: Note that this setting does not affect the visibility of jobs based on this type.
Activating an access control.	Note: Only accessible in the editing dialog box. If you activate this checkbox, only users who belong to the same organizational unit or an organizational unit in the hierarchy below it such as the creator and processor of the job or data object can view the jobs derived from this type.
Parent datasheets	Note: Only visible in the editing dialog box if <i>Inheritance = single parent</i> <i>datasheet</i> was specified when created. Select a type.
Jobs/processes and data object type only exist as sub-job/process/data object	Activate the checkbox if the job, process, or data object may only be used as a sub-job, sub-process, or sub-data object.
Manually adding sub- jobs/sub-data objects	Note: Effective for Job and Data object types. Only accessible in the editing dialog box. Activate the checkbox if the user is allowed to add sub-jobs or sub-data objects to the job or data object manually.
Permitted sub-job types/data object types	Note: Only accessible in the editing dialog box. Only for Job and Data object types. The <i>Manual addition of sub-jobs</i> checkbox must be selected. Specify which types can be added as sub-jobs/data objects during creation.
Selected sub-job/data object type	Note: Only accessible in the editing dialog box. Only for Job and Data object types. The <i>Manual addition of sub-jobs</i> checkbox must be selected. Specify which sub-job or sub-data object is added by default when creating.

Name	Description	
Automatically added sub- jobs/data objects	 Note: Only for job and data object types. Only accessible in the editing dialog box. Specify which subjobs or data objects are added automatically when the item is created. Click the plus sign to configure a sub-job or sub-data object. Define the following settings: 	
	• Job/Data object type: Specify the sub-object type.	
	• <i>Workflow</i> : Defines the workflow for the sub-object.	
	 Processor: Defines which user is assigned to the sub-object. Depending on the settings of the selected type, further selection fields may open up 	
	• Default job name: Set a default job name.	
	• Optional sub-job/data object: If you activate the checkbox, the user can choose whether the sub-object is created. If the checkbox is deactivated, the sub-object will always be created automatically.	
Use for synchronization	Note: Only accessible in the editing dialog box for process types. Once synchronization is enabled, the function cannot be disabled.	
	Activate the switch if the type is used for synchronization of a process with a planning element. If you have further questions about synchronization, please contact your BrandMaker contact person.	

Note

The "delivery date" set in the parent job is inherited to the sub-job as the default value.

2.3.2 Managing Types

The chapters below describe how to manage types. This includes the following tasks:

- Creating types, see Chapter 2.3.2.1
- Editing types, see Chapter 2.3.2.2
- Copying types, see Chapter 2.3.2.3
- Deleting types, see Chapter 2.3.2.4

2.3.2.1 Creating a type

- 1. Choose > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Types New.
- 2. Click the button Create.

The following creation wizard is displayed, where *Create type* is already preselected:

Oreate type	
🔿 Copy type	
) Import from file	
ype Configuration	
Display name *	×
Type *	
Job	*
Inheritance	
No inheritance	-

- 3. Enter a name in the *Display name* field.
- 4. Choose which type you want to create: Job, Data Object or Process.
- 5. For job and data-object types: Specify the inheritance. Note that you cannot change this setting at a later time.
- 6. For data object types: Select the checkbox if you want to create localized variants of a data object. Note that you cannot change this setting at a later time.
- 7. Click Create.

The Edit properties dialog box opens.

- 8. Switch to the *Properties* tab.
- 9. Edit or add to the type properties. Please refer to Chapter 2.3.1.
- 10. Switch to the *Changes* tab in the upper part of the dialog box.
- 11. Click the *Publish* button in the dialog box.

You have created the type and published the changes.

Note

Creating types is also possible via the > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Types page. However, BrandMaker recommends that you create new types exclusively on the > Types - New page.

2.3.2.2 Editing types

- 1. Choose > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Types New.
- 2. In the table, click the *r*-icon at the end of the row for the type whose properties you want to edit.

The tab *Properties* of the job type is displayed:

CHANGES	PROPERTIES	WORKFLOWS		
Display name * Workflow ME				?
No translation yet				
Unique Name *				
workflow_me				?
- Technical Name				
worknow_me				
Description				
Description				
No translation yet				
Color				
rgba(0,188,212,1)			@	
Category			*	?
—Type can only be selected t	2V			
.,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	-)			-
Group			-	?
Enable access control				
Respect restricti	on by organizational u	inits		?

- 3. Edit or add to the type's properties. Please refer to Chapter 2.3.1. Changes are saved directly, but not published, i.e., they are not yet effective.
- 4. Switch to the *Changes* tab in the upper part of the dialog box.
- 5. Click *Publish* at the bottom right of the dialog box.

You have edited the *Type* and published the *Changes*.

2.3.2.3 Copying a type

If you copy a job type with classic workflow, the *option Assign BPMN-Workflow* is available. If you have activated the checkbox, the classic workflow will be discarded, and you can then create a new workflow for this type in the BPMN Workflow Modeler.

O Create type	
Copy type	
O Import from file	
Type Configuration	
Display name *	×
 Select Type 	
Image	•
Assign BPMN workflow	C

- 1. Click > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Types-New.
- 2. Click Create.

The Create Type dialog opens.

- 3. Select the method *Copy type*
- 4. Specify a name (displayed name) for the copy.
- 5. In the Select Type menu, search and select the type that will serve as a template for the copy.
- 6. Click Create.

You have created a copy of an existing type.

2.3.2.4 Localize display name

To localize the displayed name of a type, open it by clicking on the \checkmark -icon in the type list. You create and edit the translations in the Properties tab. This possibility also exists directly during the new creation.

1. Click in the field *Display name*.

There will now appear a \bigoplus -Icon. Click this icon to store the job name in multiple languages.

2. The dialog Input of language versions opens.

If you see an ISO language code instead of the globe at step 1, click it to customize an existing localization.

Enter language versions	
English Excellent Job	en
enter translation	ru
German Hervorragender Job	de
French — enter translation	fr

- 3. Fill in the fields for all languages you need a translation for.
- 4. Click *Save* to apply the changes to the language versions and return to the previous dialog.
- 5. Switch to the tab *Changes* and click the button *Publish*.

You have created the desired language versions. The language versions are now available in the respective interface languages.

2.3.2.5 Deleting types

- 6. Click > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Types New.
- 7. In the table, at the end of the row for the type you want to delete, click the icon **I**.

Attention

The type is seemingly deleted immediately after clicking on in without a security prompt. Deleting the type must be published like other changes. On the page *Publish changes* by clicking *Undo changes* it can be undone after all.

Processes cannot be deleted at the moment, so the icon is missing there until this functionality is added in a later version update.

You have deleted the type.

2.3.3 Adding a sub-job or sub data object

Sub-jobs allow you to structure workflows and make dependencies between different workflows visible. You can use sub-jobs to sub-divide a data object or data object data record. You can specify:

- whether a user can add sub-jobs or sub data objects manually when creating a new job or data object,
- whether certain sub-jobs or sub data objects are added automatically when a new job or data object is created.

Prerequisites:

- You have defined allowed sub-job types or sub data object types.
- You have already created job types or data object types and linked them to a workflow.

In the area Automatically generated Sub-Jobs choose Add Sub-Job (Automatically generated Sub-Products > Add Sub-Product) to specify the sub-type that is added automatically when the item is created. Enter the required settings in the dialog box that opens.

Note:

The required settings are identical for adding a sub-job and adding a sub data object. The "delivery date" set in the parent job is inherited to the sub-job as the default value

2.3.4 Export and import of process types

Export and import existing process types to simplify and speed configuration of new systems.

Note that email templates are not taken over during export, and after an import you have to adjust BPMN workflows with a "Send Task" accordingly.

2.3.4.1 Export of a process type

The export is done as JSON. The export includes the following features, rights, and parameters:

- Type properties
- Users, comfort tables as well as variables in connection with the sync to Marketing Planner
- BPMN workflows
- Access permissions
- Input/output parameters for service tasks
- Step names of the simplified view

2.3.4.2 Import of a process type

Once you have set up and configured a process with BPMN workflow on your test system, it should also be transferred to live operation at some point after thorough testing. The import is done in the creation wizard:

- 1. Choose > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Types New.
- 2. Click the button Create.
- 3. Select the *Import from file* option.
- 4. To import, drag the desired JSON file from the file system to the marked upload area. The file name is listed below the area if the file extension is correct, and the process can be imported.
- 5. Or you can click in the marked area and a file selection dialog opens with preset file type filter *.json*. Browse the file system for the file you want to import.
- 6. Enter a name for the process in the *Displayed name* field.
- 7. The *Create* button executes the import and stores the process in your system under the specified name.

You have successfully imported a process type that was previously exported on another system.

Attention

Imports are performed without the data of a user-defined data structure. If the data structure on the import system is incomplete, you will see error messages on the relevant gateways. You cannot use the process yet. You need to recreate missing data structures and relink them in the imported BPMN workflow.

Note

Imports of processes with synchronization settings currently work only to a limited extent. This is because the settings for dimensions and Planner layers are ID-based, but these IDs differ from one system to another and cannot be re-mapped. Therefore, a manual re-creation is necessary.

Method		:
Create	e type	
	уре	
Impor	t from file	
Type Configur Display nar 2023_Q1	ation	×
	Drag and drop files here to add files to the	e queue.
D 2	23 Q1.json	

2.4 Assigning a workflow

To use a type, you must link the type to a workflow. This ensures that all of the steps required for processing a datasheet are carried out.

Note:

- Job and data object types are linked to a classic workflow.
- For a process, you create a BPMN workflow.

To create a classic workflow, you have two options:

- Under > Administration > Data Structures & Workflows > Workflows, you create classic workflows that other modules can also use. In this case you have to assign one or more workflows to the job or data object type. To do this, refer to the first of the following sections.
- Under > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Types New, you create a classic workflow that is used exclusively by this job or data object type. Please refer to the second of the following sections.

2.4.1 Assigning classic workflows

You can assign workflows directly when creating the type or edit the type's properties later.

- 1. Select > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Types New.
- 2. Click the *Create* button.
- 3. After creating a type, switch to the empty Workflows tab.
- 4. Click Create New to add a workflow.
- 5. Select *From the scratch* to define the new workflow from scratch or *With existing workflows*, to reuse an existing workflow.

Define new workflow	×
○ From the scratch	ting workflows
Search Brie	▲
Campaign Brie f	
	CANCEL SAVE

- 6. When the workflow configuration is complete, click *Save*.
- 7. Next, switch to the *Changes* tab.
- 8. Click the *Publish* button.

After you have assigned or customized a classic workflow, you can also immediately close the dialog in the *Workflow* tab (**x**) and are not required to take the approach via *> Changes > Publish*. In doing so, the changes are accumulated for the time being and published at a later point. How this can be done is explained in detail in section 2.14.

2.4.2 Classic workflow for job or data object types

- 1. Click > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Types New.
- 2. Click on the pencil icon in the list for a previously created job or data object type.

The Properties tab is displayed.

- 3. Switch to the Workflows tab.
- 4. Click Create new.

The *New Workflow* dialog box opens.

- 5. If you want to create a new classic workflow:
 - a. Click From the scratch.
 - b. Enter a name and description for the workflow.
- 6. If you want to use an existing classic workflow as a starting point:
 - a. Click With existing workflows.
 - b. Select an existing workflow from the drop-down list.
- 7. Click Save.

You have created the workflow.

- 8. Edit the workflow:
 - Click 💷 to configure access rights.:
 - Click the plus symbol to insert a subsequent workflow step.
 - Click > : > Edit to edit the settings of the workflow step.
 - Click > : > Copy to copy the workflow step.
 - Click > : > *Delete* to delete the workflow step.

You can adjust the order of the workflow steps by drag and drop at any time. You can move a workflow step by dragging and dropping the :: handle.

9. Click × to close the dialog box.

You have created a classic workflow exclusively for this type.

2.4.3 Create a BPMN workflow for a process

You can also copy a job type with classic workflow, remove the existing assignment and assign a BPMN workflow instead. If you select a job type with an existing workflow as described in section 2.3.2.3, the *Assign BPMN workflow* option is displayed. This is a replacement for the legacy *Copy type and assign a BPMN process* function.

The feature > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Assign Workflow available in previous versions is no longer present in version 7.2. Therefore, proceed as follows:

- 1. Click > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Types New.
- 2. Locate and select the desired process in the overview list.
- 3. Click the pencil icon.

The Properties tab is displayed.

4. Switch to the *Workflow Modeler* tab.

The BPMN Workflow Modeler workspace is opened. This is where you can design a workflow according to the description in Chapter 3.

2.5 Managing a data sheet layout

Note

This section describes how to set visibility for job and data object types. A description of the visibilities for processes can be found in chapter 3.7.

You can use existing variables and attributes to design data sheets that are used and filled out by users when creating a job, process, or data object. Note that a process is managed in the Job Manager module.

Note: It should be noted that the display of the data sheet fundamentally differs in the Job Manager and Data Hub. A data sheet in the Job Manager always includes the tabs *Basic Data*, *Comments, Participants, History*, and *Workflow*. You can rename and rearrange these tabs but cannot delete them. However, the *Comments* tab can be hidden using the visibility settings. A job data sheet is also always provided with a job discussion.

Number	Description
1	This lists all of the data sheet tabs that have been created. You can carry out the following functions for the tab:
	Rename it.
	• Delete it.
	 Manage the access (rights and visibilities).
2	This area displays the data sheet layout. You can:
	 Design the layout as one-column or two-column.
	Remove sections or columns via the context menu.
	• Place or remove variables or sections using drag and drop.
	Click the gear menu to open a context menu for editing or copying a variable.
3	Drag the graphical elements Add Section, Add Section with Separator, and Additional column to the data sheet using drag and drop.
4	Use drag and drop to place the available variables on the datasheet. Click the gear menu to open a context menu for editing or copying a variable.
5	Click the <i>Plus</i> icon to create a new variable for use on this datasheet.
6	Click the <i>Plus</i> icon to add a new tab.

Note: If you want to connect a data object and its data in *Brand Template Builder* module to the *Smart Group* function, an image must be defined in the *Images* field on the data sheet and the data object must be assigned to at least one theme. Accordingly, the type must provide the system variables *Images* and *Themes*. Take this into account when you create the data sheet.

Choose > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Datasheet Layout to edit the data sheet.

Define Views							×
Here you can define the views for typ	pe: Campaign Q2						
Basic Data 🥒						Design Elements	0
Sub Jobs 🖉 📗	Job Name	Q -	Job Type		Ø •	Add Section	•
Comments	Job Name:		Job Type:	Campaign Q2		New section with sep	arator
Participants 🧷	Job ID	Ø -	Workflow		Q -		
Workflow 🧷	Job ID:		Workflow:				
History	Description	Ö -	Creator		ð -	Available Variables	
	Description:	2	Creator:	Matthias		Task Manager	
			=		-	Price	Ø -
			Assignee(s)		Q *	=	
			Assignee(s):			Default media	
			Job State		Q -	Item number	•
8	-		Job State:	null		Categories	8.
	Job Deadline	Q -	Create date		Q -		
	Job Deadline:		Create date:			Mapl node id	Q -
			Last Modification Dat	te	Ø -		
			Last Modification Date:	03/08/2022 14:11			
			Current workflow ste	n	(Å 1		
			Current workflow step:	٢	-		
			Start date				
			Default duration				
Add pew Tab			Job Deadline				d new Variable
						Close	Save
2.5.1 Visibility of a data sheet tab

The access to and visibility of tabs and the variables placed on them can be restricted when you configure the type for each workflow step. For this, users are divided into the categories *Assignee/Processor, Creator, Other participants* and *Anonymous*. The category that you belong to when opening the data sheet thus determines which tabs and variables on the data sheet can be viewed or edited.

To change the visibility of a data sheet tab, click > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Datasheet Layout and open a data sheet. Click the icon if for a data sheet tab. The visibility of a data sheet tab can be defined as follows for each workflow step:

Category	Visibility
Initiator	Visible or not visible
Creator	Visible or not visible
Other participants	Visible or not visible

Note: The visibility of the *Basic Data* tab cannot be changed. The tab is visible to all users.

Define Access and Rights for tab "Comments"							×
Here you are able to define the access and the rights for each tab for each default rights are used.	workflo	w step. I	f no speci	al rights	s are set, the	Э	
	Assi	gnee	Cre	ator	Oth partici	ner ipants	
	00	Ø	00	Ø	00	Ø	
All steps in workflows	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Workflow "3 steps classic"	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Creation	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Design	0	0	0	0	0	\odot	
Implementation	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Approval	0	0	0	0	0	\odot	
				Clos	se	Save	

2.6 Managing Variables

You can edit the variables that are assigned to a type or add new variables. After you have selected a type from the dropdown list, the assigned variables are listed.

Note: If you want to connect a data object and its data in *Brand Template Builder* module to the *Smart Group* function, an image must be defined in the *Images* field on the data sheet and the data object must be assigned to at least one theme. Accordingly, the type must provide the system variables *Images* and *Themes*. Take this into account when you create the data sheet.

Prerequisites:

• You have the right MANAGE_VARIABLES.

Name/Button	Description
Neu	This creates a new variable for the selected type.
	This edits the selected variable.
ß	This copies the selected variable.
	This deletes the selected variable.

Note: You can also create a new variable when editing the data sheet layout.

2.6.1 Grouping variables

In principle, each variable is created individually for each type. This means that the values of the variables are displayed in different columns in the overview of the module.

You can group variables to compare specific values for each job, process, or data object to each other. You can then display these values in a column in the overview. Examples include:

- The price of data objects that are derived from various data object types
- The completion date of jobs that are derived from various job types

In order to group variables, the variables in the various types must have an identical technical name and must be of the identical variable type. In addition, the option *For all types* must be activated in the settings of the variables.

If a user wants to display these variables in a column, the user chooses > *Edit* > *Arrow key* in the overview in a cell in the header > *Columns* > *General* and activates the checkbox for the variables. The user then chooses *Save view for current filter*.

2.7 Visibility of variables

Note

This section describes how to set visibility for job and data object types. For a description of the visibility of processes, see Chapter 3.7.

By defining the visibilities and rights of a variable, you can specify whether a variable is displayed for certain user roles and/or can be edited. You can configure these settings separately for each workflow step. There are a number of different user categories:

- Assignee: The assignee is the user responsible for the workflow step.
- *Creator*: The creator is the user that has created the job or data object type.
- *Other participants*: Other participants are users that were invited to the job or data object type.
- Anonymous: All other users that do not belong to one of the named user groups are flagged as anonymous.

To define the visibility and editing options for the user categories, you have two options:

- Choose > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Variables Access Rights.
- Choose > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Datasheet Layout. Open the desired data sheet and choose Access and Rights from the context menu of the variables.

You can define the visibilities and editing options by activating the following options:

Name/Icon	Description
0	The variable is displayed and can be edited.
00	The variable is displayed but cannot be edited.
*	The variable is defined as a mandatory field and must be edited.
ø	The variable is not displayed.

Note: If a workflow is changed at a later stage, all settings for authorizations and visibilities are reset.

···· , ····									-,	g		
		Assi	gnee			Creat	or	C	Other	participants	Anony	/mous
	0	00	Ø	*	0	00	Ø	00	Ø	like assignee	0-0	Ø
All steps in workflows	•	0	0		•	0	0	۲	0	0	0	0
Workflow "Communication"	0	0	0		С	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Design	۲	0	0		•	0	0	۲	0	0	0	۲
Create	۲	0	0		0	0	0	۲	0	0	0	۲
Test	۲	0	0		•	0	0	۲	0	0	0	۲
Publish	۲	0	0		0	0	0	۲	0	0	0	0

2.8 Workflow messages

Messages are generated automatically and sent for actions such as forwarding to the next workflow step or inviting a user to a job, for example. Choose > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Workflow Messages to manage the dispatch of messages.

Prerequisites:

• You have the right MANAGE_EMAIL_NOTIFICATION.

Go to > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Workflow Messages and choose a type. The available variables are then displayed in the list.

Name	Description
Status	Activate the checkbox to adopt the variable or its value in the system messages.
Variable	This displays the name of the variable.
Tab	This displays the tab on which the variable is placed.
Sorting	You can change the order of activated variables.

The list contains the following columns:

Managing the e-mail dispatch

You can define which users are informed with a message when an action is carried out for a type. To do this, users are divided into different user groups. Select a type from the dropdown list and choose *Manage e-mail dispatch*.

User groups:

- Assignee: The user who is responsible for the workflow step.
- *Creator*: The user who created the type.
- *Participant*: Users that have been invited.

Actions that trigger an e-mail dispatch:

- *General actions*: Due date warning, Invite participants, Remove participants, Change creator, Finish, Cancel, Delete, Change Assignee
- Workflow-specific actions: Forward to next step, Pass back to previous step

Activate the corresponding checkboxes to configure the dispatch of messages. Note that the user that triggers an action does not receive a message.

Define messaging dispatch for jobtype "Campaign Planning"				×
Control the dispatch of notification mails for each workflow action and for ea	ach user group			
	Assignee	Creator	Participant	
General actions				
Due date warning				
Invite participants				
Remove participants				
Change creator				
Change Assignee				
Finish				
Cancel				
Delete				
		[
		Reset Val	ues Cancel	Save

2.9 Type categories

Define type categories to display the available types by category when creating a new job, process, or data object. Note that processes are managed like jobs in the *Job Manager* module. Users can browse the list and further restrict it.

Type categories		
Search		Search
Create new		
🛛 🔍 Page 1 of 1 🕨 🕅 🧞		Displaying type categories 1 - 3 of 3
Name 🔺	Module	Edit
Name 🔺 Campaign Online	Module Job Manager	Edit
Name A Campaign Online Campaign Print	Module Job Manager Job Manager	Edit

2.9.1 Creating a type category

You want to create the category Photo-shoots for the Job Manager module.

Prerequisites:

• You have the right MANAGE_TYPE_CATEGORIES.

Step by step:

- 1. Click > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Type Categories.
- 2. Choose Create new.
- 3. This opens a new dialog box.
- 4. Enter Photo-shoots in the Name input field.
- 5. Choose the entry Job Manager from the Module dropdown list.
- 6. Click Save.

You have created the category Photo-shoots for the Job Manager module. You can assign job types to this category.

2.10 Configuring the object ID

When you create a data sheet, a unique ID for the job, processes, or data object is assigned automatically. Note that processes are managed like jobs in the *Job Manager* module. Choose > *Administration* > *Datasheet Engine* > *Object ID* to determine the format based on which the object ID is created. An overview provides information about how the object IDs are generated in the Job Manager and Data Hub modules.

Prerequisites

• You have the right MANAGE_OBJECT_NUMBERS.

Name	Description
Module	This displays the module for which the object ID configuration is valid.
Format	This displays the currently selected format based on which the object ID is generated.
Preview	This displays an example of the object ID.
Last change	This displays the date on which the object ID configuration was last edited.
Last modification by	This displays the user that last edited the object ID configuration.
Editing	Click the pencil icon to edit the object ID configuration.

Note: A newly defined object ID format is applied as of the next incremental number (#) that is used. Unique IDs that have already been assigned for data sheets remain unchanged. The newly defined formats (a YYYY-MM-DD time stamp, for example) are attached to these IDs.

2.10.1 Editing the format of the object ID

In the overview of the object number configuration, click the *pencil* icon to edit the format of the object ID for a module.

Name	Description
Preview	This displays a preview of the current format of the object ID.
Format	Choose from the list of predefined formats (#, #-YYMMDD, YYYY-MM-DD_#, YYYYMMDDhhmmss.#).You can use the predefined formats to add a timestamp to the object ID.
Incremental number (#) starts with	The next number used (the ID used last + +1) is entered in the input field automatically. The newly defined object ID format is applied from the entered number onwards. You can enter another higher number. Your entry is checked. If you enter an invalid number, you are informed about this by an info message.
Possible inputs	This lists the characters that you can use for the object ID format, such as "YY" for two-digit year numbers or "DD" for days, for example, and the special characters that are permitted.

Format	#		
ncremental number (#) starts with	93		# `\ #-YYMMDD
annikla innuta			YYYY-MM-DD_#
ossible inputs	Incremental number:	#	TTTTMMDDnnmmss.#
	Year (4-digits):	YYYY	
	Year (2-digits):	YY	
	Month:	MM	
	Day:	DD	
	Hour:	hh	
	Minute:	mm	
	Second:	SS	
	Any string:	"abc"	
	Valid characters:	~	
	Minute: Second: Any string: Valid characters:	mm ss "abc" ~	

2.11 Default types

Create the default type for the Job Manager and Data Hub modules. The type defined as the default is then displayed under the category *Standard* when you create a new job, process, or data object. You can also define whether the *Only Briefing* type can be used in the individual modules. With the help of the *Only Briefing* type, requirements for a job, process, or data object can be described simply, without having to configure an extensive data sheet or select a workflow.

Prerequisites:

• You have the right MANAGE_DEFAULT_TYPES.

Default Types			
Default for Jobs	Default Job Type	<i>I</i> .,	✓ Hide Type "Only Briefing"
Default for Product Hub	PIM Category	<i>I</i> ₊	✔ Hide Type "Only Briefing"
		Cancel Save	

2.12 Settings

For the Only Briefing type, you can define the message text when a job or data object is forwarded. Click > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Settings and then choose whether you want to define the settings for jobs or data objects.

Prerequisites:

• Use of the Only Briefing type is allowed.

From the dropdown list or input field, you can define which message (if any) is sent when jobs or data objects of the type *Only Briefing* are forwarded:

- No message: No message is sent when the item is forwarded.
- Only when processing via Briefing: The stored message is sent when the item is forwarded.

You can also activate *Fast filters*. An activated checkbox at *Allow filtering by categories* allows filtering of type categories in the respective module for all users. Select the checkbox at *Filter by type* to allow type filters in the respective module for all users.

You can also configure the *settings for the theme navigation*. Select the *Enable theme navigation filter* checkbox to enable theme navigation for all users in the module in question. If you want to access the navigation for *tasks* and *time management*, activate the *Enable Tasks and Worklogs*.

This is a success message!		Æ
J. J		~U
Only when processing via Briefing	~	
Quick filters		
Enable category quick filter		
Enable type quick filter		
Tasks and Worklogs navigation		
Enable Tasks and Worklogs		

2.13 Task Templates

You can use a created task schedule again by saving it as a template. In the Task Planner, you can thus quickly and easily access and use a task saved as a template. Click > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Task Templates to create a new template or edit an existing template.

Prerequisites:

- You have the right MANAGE_TASK_TEMPLATES.
- Tasks are already saved as templates.

This opens an overview that displays the name of the task, the number of work steps, the description, and the creator of the task. Click one of the icons to edit a task template or create a new task template.

Name/Button	Description
Neu	This creates a new task template.
I	This allows you to edit the task template.
6	This copies the task template.
	This deletes the task template.

2.13.1 Creating a task template

You want to create a task template to define the steps for creating a new brochure. You want to define the individual steps Check image material and texts, Assign agency, Assign print agency, and Send.

Prerequisites:

- To use the task template, a workflow that covers the work steps defined in the task template is required.
- You have the right MANAGE_TASK_TEMPLATES.

Step by step:

- 1. Choose > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Task Templates.
- 2. Choose *Create new* to create a new task template.

This opens a new dialog box.

- 3. Enter the name of the task template in the input field.
- 4. *Optional*: Enter the name in different language versions.

- 5. *Optional*: Enter a description of the task template.
- 6. Choose the entry 1 from the Apply Steps dropdown list.
- 7. Choose Add Tasks.

This activates the input screen below the entry Step 1.

8. Enter Check image material and texts as the name of the task.

Note: In an activated input screen, use the [ESC] key to discard an entry.

9. Double-click the cell in the *Duration* column.

This activates the input screen.

- 10. Enter the *Duration* in days and the *Estimation* in hours.
- 11. Choose the entry 2 from the Apply Steps dropdown list.

This creates the field Step 2.

12. Choose Add Tasks.

This activates the input screen below the entry Step 2.

- 13. Enter Assign agency as the name of the task.
- 14. Repeat steps 9 and 10.
- 15. Use the Apply Steps dropdown list to create the work steps Assign print agency and Send.
- 16. Click Save.

The task template has been created and can be used on a data sheet for the task planner. The names of the work steps are overwritten with the names of the individual workflow steps of the workflow assigned to the job when the template is used.

2.14 Publishing changes

All of the changes made in the type configuration are grouped together and can be carried out simultaneously at a time that you can specify yourself. This does not only mean the changes to the types themselves, but any changes and adjustments within the datasheet engine. This includes, for example, data sheet layout, categories, task templates or the variables.

Prerequisites:

You have the right PUBLISH_DSE_CHANGES.

Attention!

Please note that you have to fix all formal errors before you can publish a newly created or modified BPMN workflow. Publishing with formal errors can permanently damage the job type.

Note: Note that publishing changes may lead to impact performance for other users. We therefore recommend publishing changes at a time when the system load is lower.

You publish the changes for each type separately. You do this under > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Types - New in the Edit dialog box on the Changes tab.

Except for classic workflows, all changes related to this type are published. Note that you cannot plan such a publication.

Note

We do not recommend collecting changes for a large number of types and publishing them together. This is because in the event of a possible error during publication, all pending changes to the types must always be rolled back.

Associated tasks

- *Publishing changes immediately* see page 50: You can publish changes immediately at all times. You can do so even if you have already scheduled a publication.
- *Scheduling a publication* see page 51: If you want to publish the changes at a specific time, you can enter this time. Administration then carries out the publication at this time. You can schedule a publication even if there are still no changes in the type configuration.
- *Changing a scheduled publication* see page 52: If you want to carry out the publication at a different time, you can edit the time.
- *Canceling a scheduled publication* see page 53: If you no longer want to carry out a publication, you can cancel it.
- *Discarding changes* see page 53: If you do not want to publish changes that have been made, you can delete them. Note that you can only undo all of the pending changes, not just one.

Publish chang Engine - Modu	ges of type ule Config	e configuration - Datasheet uration	
A 12 changes pend	ing. Publishing	g not scheduled	
Type configuration cha time. It is recommende the overall system per	nges are not ex ed to publish the formance.	ecuted immediately but collected for joint publishing at a e changes during times of low system load, since the pro	scheduled cess affects
() SCHEDULE PUB	LISHING	PUBLISH NOW	
Pending changes)		
DISCARD ALL			
USER	ACTION	DATA	CREATION TIME
🚨 John Admin	Created	Workflow association (id:47) 4	09/19/2016 10:15
💄 John Admin	Changed	Data-sheet (id:1569) BasicData	09/19/2016 10:15
💄 John Admin	Changed	Data-sheet (id:1602) Kommentare	09/19/2016 10:15
💄 John Admin	Created	Variable binding (id:2208) for DSE variable (id:-119)	09/19/2016 10:15
٤.	Changed	Variable binding (id:1574) for DSE variable (id:-123)	

2.14.1 Validation

The validation of the types (Job, Data object or Process) is done automatically within the respective creation dialog. When you create a type or make changes to an existing type, the validation information is displayed in the tab *Changes* under the heading *Validation Results*. Errors that need to be corrected are briefly described and highlighted in red. After corrections and adjustments, click the C icon under *Changes* to validate the type again.



Only after all validation errors are fixed, can you publish the type using the *Publish* button.

2.14.2 Publishing changes immediately

You can publish changes immediately at all times. You can do so even if you have already scheduled a publication.

Note: Note that publishing changes may lead to impact performance for other users. We therefore recommend publishing changes at a time when the system load is lower.

Prerequisite

• An administrator has added changes that have not been published yet.

Publish changes of a type immediately

- 1. Click > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Types New.
- 2. Click the pencil icon for the type whose changes you want to publish.
- 3. The editor opens.
- 4. Switch to the Changes tab.
- 5. Click Publish.

The changes are published.

After clicking the button *Publish*, server-side messages that affect the backend are briefly displayed as a browser notification.

Published - 03.01.2022 10:01 × Server notification after successful publishing

() Request failed with status code 500 \times

In case of errors or warnings as in the example above, the server's log file provides more detailed information.

Publishing accumulated changes immediately

1. Click > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Publish changes of type configuration.

The list of changes is displayed.

2. Click > Publish Now.

The changes are published.

2.14.3 Scheduling a publication

If you want to publish the changes at a specific time, you can enter this time. The back-end system then performs this task on schedule. You can schedule a publication even if there are still no changes in the type configuration.



No changes pending

Type configuration changes are not executed immediately but collected for joint publishing at a scheduled time. It is recommended to publish the changes during times of low system load, since the process affects the overall system performance.

Even though there are currently no pending changes you might schedule a publishing time to automatically publish any new changes collected until that time.

() SCHEDULE PUBLISHING

Note: Note that publishing changes may lead to impact performance for other users. We therefore recommend publishing changes at a time when the system load is lower.

1. Click > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Publish changes.

The list of changes is displayed.

2. Click > Schedule Publishing.

The following dialog box opens:

All pending changes and new changes collected until then will be published automatically at the given date and time.	
Date *	
6/21/22 I	
Time *	
3:00 AM 🕓	

- 3. Enter the date and time of publication.
- 4. Click > Schedule Publishing.

You have scheduled the publication. The changes are published at the specified time.

2.14.4 Changing a scheduled publication

If you want to carry out the publication at a different time, you can edit the time.

Prerequisite

• You have already scheduled a publication.

Changing a scheduled publication

1. Click > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Publish changes of type configuration.

The list of changes and publishing time are displayed.

2. Click > Edit Time.

The following dialog box opens:

pending c pepublished	automatical	ly at the give	n date and tin	ne.	
Date *					
6/21/22	I				
Time *					
3:00 AM		\bigcirc			

- 3. Edit the publishing time.
- 4. Click > Schedule Publishing.

You have edited the publishing time. The changes are published at the specified time.

2.14.5 Canceling a scheduled publication

If you no longer want to carry out a publication, you can cancel it.

Prerequisite

• You have already scheduled a publication.

Changing a scheduled publication

1. Click > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Publish changes of type configuration.

The list of changes and publishing time are displayed.

2. Click > Cancel Scheduling.

The publication is canceled. The changes therefore do not take effect.

2.14.6 Discarding changes

If you do not want to publish changes that have been made, you can delete them. Note that you can only undo all of the pending changes, not just one.

Warning! Data loss!

If you discard changes, all of the unpublished changed in the type configuration are discarded. You cannot undo this step!

Prerequisite

• An administrator has added changes that have not been published yet.

Discard changes of a type

- 1. Click > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Types New.
- 2. Click the pencil icon for the type whose changes you want to publish.

The editor opens.

- 3. Switch to the *Changes* tab.
- 4. Click Discard changes.

The changes in the type configuration are deleted.

Discarding all changes

1. Click > Administration > Datasheet Engine > Publish changes of type configuration.

The list of pending changes is displayed.

2. Click > Discard All.

The following dialog box is displayed:



3. Click > Discard All.

The changes in the type configuration are deleted.

2.14.7 Failed publication

After a scheduled release, you will be notified of the release status by email and directly on the *Publish Changes* page. But also, errors that occurred with *Publish Immediately* lead to this error message.



When setting up a new system, thousands of database changes quickly accumulate. If several people are responsible for maintaining the types in the system, in such a case you will of course not immediately recognize which and above all whose changes could not be published because they are incorrect.

However, don't let this message worry you, because it doesn't mean that all your type customizations are lost. Instead, you can open each individual type under *Types - New* and also publish all changes affecting this type individually in the system there. A type with pending changes displays an * in the *Changes* tab. The display of existing validation errors in the tab *Changes* supports you in troubleshooting. Continue as described above in section 2.14.1.

3 BPMN workflow

This chapter explains how to create BPMN workflows for processes. You can create a BPMN workflow in the BPMN Editor.

Open BPMN editor

- 4. Click > Administration > datasheet engine > Types New.
- 5. Click the pencil icon for a process type.
- 6. Activate the tab *Workflow Modeler*.

The BPMN editor opens. The following chapter describes the layout of the editor.

3.1 Layout of the Editor

This section describes the layout and main functions of the editor.

The editor consists of four tabs:

- Changes: Tab where you publish the changes to the type (see Chapter 3.7, 1).
- Properties: tab where you enter or edit all properties of the type (2). The properties are described in Chapter 2.3.1.
- Workflow: Workflow Modeler (Chapter 3.1.1, <a>[6])
- E-Mail Templates: Editor for creating e-mail templates for sending tasks (Chapter 3.1.2, 4)

PROCESS TYP	E Campaign 20	23			×
* t: + #				Workflow Properties	

3.1.1 Workflow Modeler



1 Toolbar

The toolbar contains the elements that you use for the workflow structure. See chapter 3.2 for a description. You can also access tools for working with the elements in the drawing area here:

- Mand tool
- Lasso tool
- Add/remove space

2 Drawing area

You add the elements to the drawing area to build your workflow.

3 Workflow Properties

This area shows the properties of the element you have selected. The screenshot above shows the workflow dialog where you activate and set the simplified view. For more information about the simplified view, see chapter 3.6.

4 Button for switching the view

The following button is displayed in this area:

• Show current error messages: If you activate this view, the current formal errors in the workflow design are displayed. This setting is recommended while you are finishing the design especially. If you deactivate the view, no formal errors are displayed.

6 Action buttons

You can access the following actions in the bottom area:

- Delete diagram: This action deletes all the elements from the drawing area.
- Undo: The last action is undone.
- Redo: The last undone action is restored.
 Keyboard shortcut: CTRL + Z / CMD + Z
- *Redo*: The last undone action will be restored.
 Keyboard shortcuts: CTRL + Y or SHIFT + CTRL + Z / CMD + Y or CMD + CMD + Z

6 Zoom Buttons

These buttons are used to customize the view.

- O: Center the view and reset the zoom to the default value.
- \oplus : With each click you enlarge the view by zooming in.
- Θ : With each click you zoom out to make the view smaller.

3.1.2 Editor for e-mail templates

CHANGES	PROPERTIES	WORKFLOW MOI	ELER E-MAIL TEMPLATES
Solect E-mail Template New E-Mail template LOAD ST No template en-US (default)	ate 2	•	Subject Rejected X O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O
			ody p
			5 CREATE TEMPLATE

List of language variants

When you create or edit a template, the language variants are displayed here. In the current version you can create German and English language variants, whereby the version for US-EN must be created first.

2 *E-mail template* selection list

In the selection list, select the e-mail template you want to edit, or select the *New e-mail template* entry to create a new template. If you click *Load Standard Templates* below the list, the templates stored in the system are loaded into the selection list. You can then also edit the default templates.

Subject

Enter the subject of the e-mail in the selected language variant.

4 Editor

Enter the content of the e-mail in the editor. You have numerous formatting options, and you can add system variables (see Chapter 4.2) and job variables using the drop-down lists *Job Type Placeholders* and *Global Placeholders*. Variables of the following types are available:

- Single line and multiline input area (see chapter 4.1.7)
- Single-select and multi-select (see chapter 4.1.6)
- Datepicker with/without time (see chapter 4.1.4)
- User (see chapter 4.1.2)
- Numbers (see chapter 4.1.17)
- Combo box (see chapter 4.1.8.1)
- Comfort Grid (see chapter 4.1.13)
- Advanced Grid (see chapter 4.1.12)

Other variable types cannot be inserted.

In the use case with BPMN only the following variables are filled:

- JM_JOB_CREATOR_NAME
- JM_JOB_CREATOR_EMAIL
- JM_JOB_LIST_VARIABLES
- LINK_JM_JOB_DETAIL

5 Create template

Click the button to save the created template.

3.2 Available elements

3.2.1 Start event

The start event initiates a process instance. Each BPMN workflow requires exactly one start event.



Parameters

You can enter a name for the start event in the properties dialog.

3.2.2 End event

The end event ends a process instance. Each BPMN workflow requires exactly one end event.



Parameters

You can enter a name for the end event in the properties dialog.

3.2.3 De-archive event

Sometimes it is necessary that terminated or canceled jobs can be reactivated with BPMN workflows. You can adapt your existing BPMN workflows accordingly. A standard BPMN message event of type StartMessageEvent is used for this purpose.

The De-archive event must be accessible to the StartMessageEvent. Appropriately prepared jobs can later be restored by users in the Job Manager.



Implementation in the Workflow Modeler

The workflow can be started either by the regular start event or a dearchive event stored as De-Archive-StartMessageEvent. You can theoretically insert a dearchiving event with a gateway before each workflow step.



Notes

- Currently, a BPMN job can only be reactivated if the workflow does not contain fewer steps at the time of reactivation than at the time of job creation.
- Deleted jobs cannot be reactivated, even if they were previously properly terminated or canceled.

In practice, not every entry point proves useful. If a job were reactivated only after an element such as *CreateNode*, the person reactivating the job would be missing the previously uncreated node in the current workflow step. Therefore, careful planning is required for each user scenario.

Job Manager users can reopen a completed or canceled job with BPMN workflow. You will find the button *De-archive Job* at the place where the button *Close* is otherwise located. If several reactivation points exist, a selection dialog appears where the user can choose from a list to reactivate the job in a selectable workflow step.

User interface in the Job Manager to reactivate a canceled or terminated job with BPMN workflow:



3.2.4 User task

Each step in a process instance must be described as a task. The *User task* element is used to model the work to be performed in the system by a human actor.



Name

For a user task you have to enter a name in the properties dialog.

Assignment

Since user tasks must be performed by human actors, you must assign them to either a group or a specific user. Alternatively, you can also select the processor using a variable on the data sheet (e.g., with the *Creator* variable).

- Candidates	
O Group assignment	
O User assignment	
O Use job variable for assignment	
Oreator	
L	

- Group assignment: When the user task is activated, it is displayed in the Available tasks list for the group. Every user that is part of the group can accept the task.
 With this setting, you select a user group in the picklist.
- User assignment: When the user task is activated, it is assigned directly to the selected user. With this setting, you select a user in the picklist. You can search through the users with access to the module based on logins, e-mail address, first name, and last name. An autocomplete helps you to select the user.

Use variable for the assignment: When the user task is activated, it is assigned directly to the • user that is entered in the selected variable.

Note

The default *Creator* variable is always available. To select a different variable for the assignment, you must first create the data sheet layout with the desired variable.

Attention!

If the variable is not filled out when the user task is activated, the process hangs and cannot be ended. Therefore, ensure that the variable is filled out, for example, by having the variable filled out as a mandatory field in an earlier step (see chapter 2.7).

Creator: The user task is assigned to the creator of the process. •

Based on the assignment, you can control which notifications are sent when a user task is activated. If the task is assigned to a group, a notification is sent only to the creator. If a specific user has been defined as the processor, notifications can be sent to both the creator and the processor.

When user task gets active:



Send notification to creator



Decisions

To make it easier to create objects, decisions such as Approve or Reject can be enabled and added directly in the properties of the user tasks. Decisions are displayed as buttons in the header of the data sheet. When the user clicks a button, the relevant sequence flow is performed.

Manage decisions	
Add decision	

If you activate the Manage decisions checkbox, an exclusive gateway is added in the drawing area after the user task. The Properties dialog box for the task displays the default decisions Forward, Approve, and Reject. You can use these decisions, remove them (with the recycle bin icon), or add other decisions.

Manage decisions	
Unused decisions	
Forward	Î
Approve	Î
Reject	Î
Add decision	

You assign the decisions to the sequence flows by connecting the exclusive gateway to the following elements.

Default duration

You can also define a default duration in days for user tasks. The default duration is used to calculate the due date for the task.

Default duration in days

Description

Enter your notes in the description field so that you or your colleagues can track your decisions and thoughts on the workflow structure later.

Notes

3.2.5 Sending tasks

When a sending task becomes active in the workflow, the system sends an e-mail. The administrator selects a template for the e-mail in the properties dialog and specifies the recipient(s).

E-mail template

You create an e-mail template on a second tab of the Workflow Modeler, see chapter 3.1.2. How to create templates is explained in chapter 3.4.

Select E-mail Template	-
Recipients	
💿 John Public 😣	•

Recipients

Select one or more recipients of the e-mail.

3.2.6 Service tasks

Note

The service tasks are accessible in the interface from version 7.0. Note, however, that these service tasks can only be used to synchronize a job with a planning element in the *Marketing Planner* module. Contact your BrandMaker contact if you have any questions.



3.2.7 Intermediate Event Throw Message

There are two types of intermediate events. An intermediate event in the sequence flow can either trigger an event or respond to the receipt of an event. Intermediate events in the sequence flow have exactly one incoming and one outgoing sequence flow.

Intermediate event throw messages are used to send messages from one process and trigger them in another process.

An event is triggered and the sequence continues.



3.2.8 Intermediate Event Catch Message

An intermediate event catch message is used in processes to catch messages from a parent process and trigger appropriate actions. The sequence is paused until the event occurs.

For example, the flow is interrupted until a message is received. The process continues after the event has occurred.

\bigcirc

3.2.9 Sub-Actions

Sub-actions are actions independent of the central BPMN workflow that are executed in parallel. Event-based subprocesses in the Workflow Modeler are identified by a dotted outline.

The event used to trigger one of these subprocesses is configured via a start event.

Create extended subprocess

r			`
		_	
	-		
		_	

The extended subprocess always looks as shown below and always starts with a message start event. For example, such a process responds to MAPL update events.

Message events are used to send and receive messages between two separate processes. Message events serve as a mechanism for communication between processes.



After you created the subprocess, add an intermediate event catch message to the main process. The Workflow Modeler still reports errors at first as necessary attributes and referencing are missing.

After you create the subprocess, add an intermediate event catch message to the main process. The Workflow Modeler still reports errors at first. Necessary attributes and referencing are missing.



To resolve this issue, highlight the placed intermediate catch event message symbol and select option Mapl Update Event in the Intermediate Catch Event Properties info panel in the *Message* field.

The errors are thus fixed.

The following two workflow elements can be used to configure which actions are initiated after the deletion or cancellation of an associated job.

Message events are used for these use cases.

Create Subprocess "Cancel Message"



You create an event subprocess that responds to a Cancel Messagetype event. Example: A user has cancelled a job prematurely. You can specify what should happen when the job is canceled.

You can:

- Delete synchronized planning elements
- Cancel sub-processes

The planning element in Planner is to be removed by the event.

The following methods for the *MaplNodeSyncRestService* are available:

- deleteNode
- createNode
- moveNode
- updateNode

Cancel process



Service Task Properties
Select module Dse-Mapl Synchronization REST API
Select method deleteNode
SET INPUT/OUTPUT PARAMETERS
ADD ERROR EVENT HANDLER

Adjust the properties in the service task of the sub-process accordingly. The method *deleteNode* is needed to delete the planning element in Planner on termination.

- 1. In the drop-down menu, select the module: Dse-Mapl Synchronization REST API.
- 2. From the drop-down menu, select *deleteNode*.
- 3. After you create and configure the subprocess, add an Intermediate Event Catch Message to the main process.

Create Subprocess "Delete Message"



You create an event subprocess that responds to an event of type Delete Message. Example: A user has deleted a running job.

You can specify what happens when the job is deleted. For example, if the associated node in Planner is also to be deleted, you must create a corresponding service task.

Adjust the properties in the service task of the sub-process accordingly. Here, too, the method *deleteNode* is used to delete the planning element in Planner in the same way when it is canceled.



Adjust the properties in the service task of the sub-process accordingly.

- 1. In the drop-down menu, select the module: Dse-Mapl Synchronization REST API.
- 2. From the drop-down menu, select *deleteNode*.
- 3. After you create and configure the subprocess, add an Intermediate Event Catch Message to the main process.

Service Task Properties
Select module Dse-Mapl Synchronization REST API
Select method deleteNode
SET INPUT/OUTPUT PARAMETERS
ADD ERROR EVENT HANDLER

After publishing the changes, this job will be synchronized with the related elements in Planner. The planning element in the Planner is removed by an event with the above settings for the two subprocesses presented.

It is also possible to process several service tasks one after the other in one subprocess. In this way, it is also possible to delete sub-jobs as part of a subprocess.

3.2.10 Gateways

Gateways are used to control the process sequence: If the condition is true, the process takes the appropriate course. The available gateways are described below. For information about setting up conditions with gateways, see chapter 3.5.

Exclusive (OR)

All the conditions are evaluated but only one condition can be true; therefore, only one sequence flow is performed. The conditions can be established using user decisions or *Number* or *Single select*-type variables.



Inclusive (AND)

All the conditions are evaluated and anything from one condition to all the conditions can be true; each sequence flow with a true condition is performed. The conditions can be established using *Multiselect*-type variables.



Parallel

All the subsequent sequences are performed; conditions are therefore not required.



Parameters

You can enter a name for the gateways in the Properties dialog box. Other settings are based on the conditions that you establish. For more information, see chapter 3.5.

3.2.11 Sequence flow

A sequence flow connects tasks, gateways, and events and creates the process flow between the start and end element. Conditions for decisions at gateways are also described on the sequence flows.


Default sequence flow

For sequence flows departing from a gateway, you have the option to specify a default sequence flow. The default sequence flow is executed if none of the conditions for other sequence flows are met.

How to set a default sequence flow is described in Chapter 3.3.2.

Parameters

In the case of sequence flows that connect exclusive and inclusive gateways with subsequent elements, you define the decisions in the Properties dialog box.

3.2.12 Comments

You can use comments to add details about the elements in the process.



Parameters

You can also enter the comment in the properties dialog.

3.3 Creating a BPMN workflow

This chapter describes how you create BPMN workflows using the Workflow Modeler.

Attention!

Please note that you have to fix all formal errors before you can publish a newly created or modified BPMN workflow. Publishing with formal errors can permanently damage the job type.

3.3.1 Adding elements

You can add a start or end event, a user task, or a gateway in two ways:

Toolbar

- 1. Click the relevant icon in the toolbar.
- 2. Click the point in the drawing area at which you want to add the element.

The element is added.

Adding related elements

You use this option when you want to add elements that are directly related to one another.

Prerequisite: You have already added one element. This element must be before the element to be added in the process sequence.

3. Click the added element after which you want to add a related element.

A toolbar is displayed to the right of the element:



4. In the toolbox, click the symbol for the next element.

The selected element is added. It is connected to the previous element through a sequence flow.

3.3.2 Connecting elements

Once you have positioned elements, you must connect them using sequence flows. Please refer to the following sections, which explain how to connect using the toolbar or using elements that have already been inserted. In addition, you can define a default sequence flow for sequence flows that leave from a gateway, see the last section.

Toolbox

- 1. In the toolbox, click the symbol for sequence flows.
- 2. In the drawing area, click the element at which the sequence flow starts.
- 3. In the drawing area, click the element at which the sequence flow ends.

The sequence flow connects the elements.

On elements that have been added already

1. Click an element that you have already added to the drawing area.

A toolbox is displayed to the right of the element:



- 2. Click the sequence flow symbol.
- 3. Click the element to which you want to connect the starting element.

The sequence flow connects the elements.

Set default sequence flow

Note

You can only set a default sequence flow that originates from a gateway.

1. Click the sequence flow you want to set as default.

The **I**icon is displayed on the frame of the sequence flow.

2. Click > \checkmark > Default flow.



You have set the sequence flow as the default sequence flow.

3.3.3 Positioning elements

To display elements in a clear way, you can reposition the elements on the diagram.

Note

If you move connected elements, the connections are not removed; instead, they are updated and adapted to the desired position.

Positioning an individual element

- 1. Click the element and hold the mouse button.
- 2. Drag the element to the desired position and release the mouse button.
- 3. Alternatively, you can fine-position a selected element or group using the keyboard with the four direction keys or move it in larger steps with SHIFT + direction key.

You have positioned the element.

Positioning multiple elements

1. Hold down CTRL - SHIFT / CMD - SHIFT and click the elements you want to move together.

The elements are highlighted together.

- 2. Click one of the highlighted elements and hold down the mouse button.
- 3. Drag the elements to the desired position and release the mouse button.

You have positioned the elements.

Positioning an area

If you want to position an area of the diagram containing several elements, proceed as follows.

- 1. In the toolbox, click the 📩 symbol.
- 2. Click the drawing area and hold down the mouse button to select the area that you want to position.
- 3. Click one of the highlighted elements and hold down the mouse button.
- 4. Drag the elements to the desired position and release the mouse button.

You have positioned the elements.

Adding/removing space

- 1. In the toolbox, click the ^{+|+} symbol.
- 2. On the drawing area, click a position where you want to add or remove space and hold down the mouse button.
- 3. Move the cursor horizontally or vertically.

Note

Depending on the use of the function, you can remove or add space only in one direction.

The space is added or removed.

3.3.4 Editing elements

To edit elements, you open the Properties dialog box and edit the properties there. To do so, click an element. The Properties dialog box is then displayed to the right of the drawing area. You may have to expand the dialog box.

Editing multiple user tasks

You can select multiple user tasks at the same time and assign them to a user or user group for editing.

1. Hold down the CTRL + SHIFT / CMD + SHIFT keys and click the user tasks that you want to edit at the same time.

You have selected the user tasks. The fields for the assignment are displayed in the Properties dialog box.

2. Assign the tasks. For information about performing the assignment, see chapter 3.2.4.

You have assigned multiple user tasks simultaneously.

Changing the gateway type

Note

If you have created conditions for a gateway, the options for changing the gateway type may be limited.

When you add a gateway, you always add an exclusive gateway to start with. To get a parallel or inclusive gateway, you have to change the gateway type.

- 1. Click the gateway whose type you want to change.
- A toolbar is displayed to the right of the element:
- 2. Click the 🛃 symbol.

A picklist is displayed:



3. Select the type.

You have changed the gateway type.

3.3.5 Deleting elements

Note

If you have rejected decisions for a gateway, the gateway can no longer be deleted. To delete the gateway, you must first remove the subsequent user tasks.

Deleting an individual element

1. Click the element.

A toolbox is displayed to the right of the element:



- 2. You can optionally click on the trash icon.
- 3. Or press the Delete key or Backspace key on your keyboard to delete.
- 4. Click the Delete or Backspace key on your keyboard.

The element is deleted.

Deleting multiple elements

- 1. Hold down the CTRL SHIFT / CMD SHIFT keys and click the items you want to delete.
- 2. Press the Delete or Backspace key.

The elements are deleted.

Deleting the elements in an area

- 1. In the toolbox, click the 한 symbol.
- 2. Click the drawing area and hold down the mouse button to select the area that you want to delete.
- 3. Press the Delete key.

The elements are deleted.

Deleting all elements

1. In the Workflow Modeler, click the *Delete diagram* button in the bottom right corner.

All elements are deleted. You must completely set up the whole workflow again.

3.3.6 Editing a view

You can adjust the image section with the three zoom buttons above the BPMN.iO logo. Or you can use the following key combinations to adjust the zoom factor:

Windows/Mac key combination	Function
CTRL + 0 / CMD + 0	Reset zoom factor to default
CTRL + + / CMD + +	Zoom in
CTRL + - / CTRL + -	Zoom out

Trackpad owners use the pinch-zoom gesture to adjust the area with two fingers by moving them apart and bringing them together.

The zoom functions support the mouse scroll wheel. The current position of the mouse pointer over the workflow is considered. If you use such a mouse, hold down the CTRL / CMD key and scroll up to zoom in. Scroll in the opposite direction to zoom out.

Hold down the SHIFT key and use the scroll wheel to move the image section to the right and left. Only with the scroll wheel without additional key can you move the visible area up and down.

Press the [ESC] key to exit the selected BPMN tool. You can now click and hold directly in the white area of the workflow modeler until the mouse pointer turns into a hand, and freely move the image section. With this procedure you save the detour via the toolbar and do not have to select the hand tool separately.

Additional keyboard shortcuts for the Workflow Modeler

Windows/Mac key combination	Function
CTRL + Z / CMD + Z	Undo the last action
CTRL + Y / CMD + Y	Redo the state before pressing STRG + Z / CMD + Z

or	
SHIFT + CTRL + Z / SHIFT + CMD + Z	
CTRL + A	Select all elements
E	Quickly switch to text mode to enter a name for the selected workflow item
н	Deselect the current tool and switch to the hand tool
L	Lasso tool
S	Space tool

3.4 E-Mail templates

3.4.1 Creating an e-mail template

- 1. Switch to the *E-Mail Templates* tab in the editor.
- 2. Enter a subject. The subject is used as name for the English version and the template.
- 3. Enter the content for the English variant.
- 4. Click Create template.

The English variant is created.

- 5. Click on the German variant on the left.
- 6. Enter the German subject.
- 7. Enter the content for the German variant.
- 8. Click Create template.

You have created the e-mail template.

3.4.2 Editing an e-mail template

- 1. Switch to the *E-Mail Templates* tab in the editor.
- 2. Select the template you want to edit.
- 3. select the language variant you want to edit.
- 4. Optional: Edit the subject.
- 5. Optional: Edit the content of the template.
- 6. Click Save Changes.
- 7. Optional: Repeat steps 3 to 6 for other language variants.

You have edited the e-mail template.

3.4.3 Deleting a German e-mail template

Currently, you can only delete the German version of an e-mail template.

- 1. Switch to the *E-Mail Templates* tab in the editor.
- 2. Select the template whose German variant you want to delete.
- 3. Click the recycle bin icon for the German variant.

You have deleted the German version of the e-mail template.

3.5 Establishing conditions

This chapter explains how to establish conditions using exclusive or inclusive gateways.

3.5.1 Exclusive gateway: Using a number

You want to establish a condition in which a number is evaluated, such as:



Prerequisites

- You have assigned a number variable to the type (see chapter 4.1.17).
- You have added an exclusive gateway to the workflow.

Setting up a condition

- 1. Click the gateway.
- 2. In the Properties dialog box, activate the function *Use number to build conditions*.
- 3. In the picklist below that, select the variable that you want to use to create the condition.
- 4. Select all the outgoing sequence flows one after the other and enter the operator and value of the number variables in the Properties dialog box.

Note

Negative numbers are permitted.

If the number ranges for the various sequence flows overlap, the Workflow Modeler reports an error.

You have set up the condition.

3.5.2 Exclusive gateway: Using a custom structure

You want to establish a condition in which the selection is evaluated in a list. In this case, only one path is permitted to be executed.



Prerequisites

- You have assigned a single select variable to the type (see chapter 4.1.6). A custom structure is assigned to the variable.
- You have added an exclusive gateway to the workflow.

Setting up a condition

- 1. Click the gateway.
- 2. In the Properties dialog box, activate the function *Use structured list to build conditions*.
- 3. In the picklist below that, select the variable that you want to use to create the condition.
- 4. Select all the outgoing sequence flows one after the other and enter the list value with which the applicable path is to be executed in the Properties dialog box.

Note

If not all the list values are assigned to a sequence flow, the Workflow Modeler reports an error.

You have set up the condition.

3.5.3 Inclusive gateway: Using a custom structure

You want to establish a condition in which the selection is evaluated in a list. In this case, multiple paths are allowed to be executed.



Note

Processes are shown in the module's Kanban representation in read-only mode. This means that they cannot be dragged and dropped into another workflow step. The datasheet, on the other hand, can also be opened and edited in the Kanban view.

Prerequisites

- You have assigned a multiselect variable to the type (see chapter 4.1.6). A custom structure is assigned to the variable.
- You have added an inclusive gateway to the workflow.

Setting up a condition

- 1. Click the gateway.
- 2. In the Properties dialog box, activate the function Use structured list to build conditions.
- 3. In the picklist below that, select the variable that you want to use to create the condition.
- 4. Select all the outgoing sequence flows one after the other and enter at least one list value with which the applicable path is to be executed in the Properties dialog box.

Note

If not all the list values are assigned to a sequence flow, the Workflow Modeler reports an error.

You have set up the condition.

3.6 Simplified view

You can use the simplified view to display the status of the job or data object in the workflow on the data sheet. In this case, you assign one or more user tasks to a process step. These process steps are displayed sequentially in the data sheet of a job or data object and show the progress made in the workflow:



Prerequisite

• You have added at least one user task on the drawing area.

Configuring the simplified view

1. Click the drawing area.

The Properties dialog box for the workflow is displayed.

- 2. Activate the Use simplified view checkbox.
- 3. Enter a name for the workflow step in the *Enter new step name* field. Press the Enter key.

The step has been created.

- 4. Optional: Click the colored field next to the step name and select a different color.
- 5. Select the tasks that you want to assign to the step.
- 6. In the Properties dialog box, select the step in the *Select step from simplified view* picklist.
- 7. Repeat steps 3 to 6 until all the required workflow steps are created and all the user tasks are assigned to a step.

Note

If the simplified view is used, the Workflow Modeler checks if all steps are assigned to the view. If not all user tasks are assigned, the modeler reports an error.

You have set up the simplified view.

3.7 Setting up visibility and editability

You set up the visibility of tabs of the datasheet and individual variables in the editor for processes. Click III to open the dialog box for access rights. You can reach the icon in the Workflow Modeler in the Properties dialog box when you select either the workflow or a user task. Depending on what you activate, you either set up the visibilities for the overall workflow or the corresponding user task.

BASICDATA O SUBJOBS O CO	DMMENTS 🗿 PARTI	CIPANTS 🗿 WORKFLOW 🗿 HISTORY 🗿		Search for variable nam	e
				All variables	& o / 0
Job Name *		Job Type * @CA., JOB_PETH_ALL_VANIABLE		Left column	
Job ID		Workflow *		Job Name Job ID	& o / U & o / U
61690		@1# 1		Description	Q O / 0
Description		Creator		Job Deadli	Q O 🧪 🛛
	lit Alias eliquem emet	Luser U	v	Right column	
Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipisicing e aperiam beatae, consequatur, earum eos fuga illum ip optio provident quas reiciendis rem saepe tempora ve	elit. Alias aliquam amet psa laudantium molestiae eniam, veritatis?	Assignee(s)	~	Job Type	& o / 0
Job Deadline		Job State		Creator	& • / • •
22.08.2020	0	stepu		Assignee(s)	🗞 🧿 🖍 関
		Create date		Job State	🗞 🧿 🖍 🚺
		24.05.2017, 10:30	0	Create date	õ 🕐 🖊 🕼
				Last Modif	õ 이 🗡 🕕
		Last Modification Date 24.05.2017, 10:30	0	Current w	õ 🍳 🖉 🖉

At the top of the dialog, first select the user role for which you want to set visibility. Then activate the visibility of the datasheet tabs below. For the visible tabs, you can then specify for the variables whether they are visible, editable, or a required field.

Mandatory fields to be filled in are marked with * in the Job Manager interface of the data sheet. These access rights can also be set for system variables.

When you set up the visibilities of a user task, you can also define a default tab. The default tab is displayed directly when you open the datasheet. To set a tab as default, click the star icon to the right of the tab name.

If you are editing a process with several variables, you can search for variables in the right pane above the list of variables.

3.8 Monitoring

Administrators can access an overview of the running BPMN processes under > Administration > Datasheet Engine > BPMN Monitoring.

BPMN WORKFLOWS STATISTICS AND MONITORING			
Active jobs ψ	Active step	Workflow name	Version
2	Prepare audio	ParallelGateway	25.06.2020 16:06
2	Approve	ExclGatAndDecision	25.06.2020 17:06
2	step 1	SimpleView	29.06.2020 10:06
2	Approve	ExclGatAndDecision	30.06.2020 09:06
1	Prepare video	ParallelGateway	25.06.2020 16:06

The table lists the ongoing processes by amount and active step. It also lists the name and version of the type. When you click the type name, the version history of the workflow opens:

BACK	
BPMN WORKFLOW "EXCLGATANDDECISIO	N" : VERSION HISTORY
Version \downarrow	Active jobs
14.07.2020 03:07	1
07.07.2020 03:07	14
30.06.2020 09:06	3
26.06.2020 04:06	1
25.06.2020 17:06	2

When you click the Version column, the workflow is displayed with a superimposed thermal image:



The more intense the red color is, the more processes are in the applicable process step. Steps that currently do not have a process are displayed without a color.

4 Available variables

Different variable types are used to allow you to group together and output data and information on a data sheet. The variables are placed on a data sheet using drag and drop.

There are two different types of variables:

- System variables that allow you to use the basic functions, for example, for displaying the creator or the current workflow step. When you create a type, system variables are created and if absolutely necessary placed on the data sheet automatically.
- Custom variables (text fields, selection fields, or an asset selector, for example) can be created as required.

Note: When you create a variable, fields that are mandatory are flagged with a * on the interface. Pre-filling means that users see already filled values in the data sheet but are allowed to overwrite the content.

4.1 Custom variables

4.1.1 Action

With the variable named *Action Button* you integrate a button on a data sheet that opens a URL. The processor of the data sheet can use the button to access programming that is generally customer-specific. Use the button *Close* at the bottom of the page or click in the Close box × at the top right to navigate back to Job Manager.

Name	Description
Unique name, technical name	Note: This is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. For details see chapter 1.1.
Display Name	Define the name with which the variable is displayed on the data sheet. You can create any language versions that are required. For details see chapter 1.1.
URL	URL that is opened when you click the button.
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users.

GO TO EXTERNAL API DOCUMENTATION

4.1.2 User

You can use the *User* variable to ensure that the user can select another system user on the data sheet. If necessary, you can limit the selection to users in a user group.

Name	Description
Unique name, technical name	Note: This is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. For details see chapter 1.1.
Display Name	Define the name with which the variable is displayed on the data sheet. You can create any language versions that are required. For details see chapter 1.1.
User group	Define a user group. Once you make a selection, the processor can only select users from this group on the data sheet. If you do not define a group, the user can choose from all the available users.
Default value	Enter the value to use as the default for the field. Note: Note that the default value is adopted only when you create an object (data object or job). Changing the default value does not have any effect on objects that were created already.
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users.
Visibility	Note: This is visible only if a single-select or multi-select is already created for the type.
	display the selection field only after a user has selected a specific value for a different selection field on the data sheet.



4.1.3 Description text

Name	Description
Unique name, technical name	Note: This is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Text	This displays the title used to display the headline text on the data sheet. You can create any language versions that are required. The text is used as the display name in the system; see Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Visibility	Activate the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> to display the field only after a user has selected a specific value for a different selection field on the data sheet.
Variable	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated. You can choose the dropdown list upon whose value you want to make the visibility dependent.
Value*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated. You can specify which value must be selected in order to display the variable.

Use a *Description text* to enter additional information on a data sheet, for example.

Below you can choose media as images, video and PDF and upload them as new assets.

Add new Asset 🕜

ADD ASSET 💌

2

4.1.4 Datepicker with/without time

Use the *Datepicker* variable to create a date field with a date picker on the data sheet. The variable *Datepicker with time* also provides an additional field for the time.

Name	Description	
Unique name Technical Name	Note: This is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.	
Name displayed	Define the name with which the variable is displayed on the data sheet. You can create any language versions that are required. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.	
For all types	Select this checkbox to display variables with an identical technical name and identical variable type in one column in the filter view. See Grouping variables see page 37.	
Validity	Select the checkbox <i>Allow only valid dates</i> to define conditions for the date selection validity.	
Number of offset days	Note: This is visible only if the <i>Validity</i> checkbox is activated. Specify the minimum number of days into the future the date must be in relation to the <i>Reference</i> date.	
Reference	 Note: This is visible only if the <i>Validity</i> checkbox is activated. Define the date to which the Number of offset days refers. Choose: Creation date Current date Transfer date from initial creation to any other workflow step 	
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users.	
Shared value	 Note: This is visible only if the type is a data object type and localization is enabled (see Localization see page 14). Note: Note that the variable can be selected as language-neutral only while you create it. The <i>Shared value</i> field cannot be changed at a later stage! Activate the checkbox if you want the variable value to receive the same value in each localized data object version. 	

Name	Description
Inherit from parent	Note: This is visible only if the type permits inheritance (Inheritance dropdown list = Multiple parents).
	Activate this checkbox if you want the data record to adopt the values of a parent job or data object as a sub-job or sub data object. Note: The variables must have identical display names.
Prefilling from custom structure	Note: This option can only be used for the <i>Datepicker</i> variable. Select an existing custom structure and a created attribute whose values you want to use to prefill the date picker

Choose the date and time here: 06/02/2022	14:30	\bigcirc
06/21/2022		
Choose a date		

Please set date and time here.

							2	1:00	\bigcirc
«		MA	RCH 20	22 ~		>>		18:45	^
								19:00	
M	Т	W	Т	F	S	S		19:15	
28	1	2	3	4	5	6		19:30	
7	8	9	10	11	12	13		19:45	
14	15	16	17	18	19	20		20:00	
21	22	23	24	25	26	27		20:15	
21	22	20	24	20	20	2/		20:30	- 6
28	29	30	31	1	2	3		20:45	
4	5	6	7	8	9	10		21:00	~
			TODAY						

4.1.5 Document Selector

Use a *Document Selector* to make the *Select from Brand Template Builder* button available on a data sheet. Users can use this button to open a search in *Brand Template Builder* module and add a document (finalized or still in progress) to the data sheet.

A document that is still in progress can be loaded to the document wizard for further processing directly from the data sheet. Users can open the detailed view of a finalized document and call additional functions (to adjust it to suit their own purposes, for example).

Note: Which documents in *Brand Template Builder* module can be selected and edited is determined by the authorizations of the user.

Name	Description
Unique name Technical Name	Note: This is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable.
	See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Display name*	Define the name with which the variable is displayed on the data sheet. You can create any language versions that are required.
	See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Type spanning	Select this checkbox to display variables with an identical technical name and identical variable type in one column in the filter view.
	See Grouping variables see page 37.
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users.
Shared value	Note: This is visible only if the type is a data object type and localization is enabled (see Localization see page 14).
	Note: Note that the variable can be selected as language-neutral only while you create it. The <i>Shared value</i> field cannot be changed at a later stage!
	Activate the checkbox if you want the variable value to receive the same value in each localized data object version.
Inherit from parent	Note: This is visible only if the type permits inheritance (<i>Inheritance</i> dropdown list = Multiple parents).
	Activate this checkbox if you want the data record to adopt the values of a parent job or data object as a sub-job or sub data object.
	Note: The variables must have identical display names.

Name	Description
Visibility	Note: This is visible only if a single-select or multi-select is already created for the type.
	Activate the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> to display the selection field only after a user has selected a specific value for a different selection field on the data sheet.
Variable*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated.
	You can choose the selection field upon whose value you want to make the visibility dependent.
Value*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated.
	You can specify which value must be selected in order to display the variable.



4.1.6 Single-select and multi-select

Use a *Singleselect or Multiselect* to allow users to select one or more predefined values.

Prerequisites:

• You require a custom structure that you can select as the data source.

Name	Description
Unique name Technical Name	Note: This is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable.
	see Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Name displayed	Define the name with which the variable is displayed on the data sheet. You can create any language versions that are required.
	See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Type spanning	Select this checkbox to display variables with an identical technical name and identical variable type in one column in the filter view.
	See Grouping variables see page 37.
Style	You can define the layout for the selection field. <i>Singleselect:</i>
	 Dropdown: This creates a dropdown list.
	• OptionBoxArea: This creates an option box.
	 OptionBoxAreaWithImages: This creates an option box. The existing preview images for the custom structure can be displayed.
	Multiselect:
	• Selection Box: This creates a selection list.
	• OptionBoxArea: This creates an option box.
	 OptionBoxAreaWithImages: This creates an option box. The existing preview images for the custom structure can be displayed.
Data source	Select an existing custom structure as data source for the values of the selection field.

Name	Description
Dependent on parent selection	Note: Only visible if there is a single selection of the <i>Dropdown</i> type or a multiple selection of the <i>Selection Box</i> type and if a parent selection has already been created on the data sheet.
	Activate the checkbox if the display of the selections in this field depends on the setting in another selection field, for example the display of street names on the selection of a town in another selection field.
Parent selection	Note: This is visible only if the <i>Dependent on parent selection</i> checkbox is activated.
	Select the parent field containing the setting that the displayed values of the selection depend on.
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users.
Shared value	Note: This is visible only if the type is a data object type and localization is enabled (see Localization see page 14).
	Note: Note that the variable can be selected as language-neutral only while you create it. The <i>Shared value</i> field cannot be changed at a later stage!
	Activate the checkbox if you want the variable value to receive the same value in each localized data object version.
Inherit from parent	Note: This is visible only if the type permits inheritance (Inheritance dropdown list = Multiple parents).
	Activate this checkbox if you want the data record to adopt the values of a parent job or data object as a sub-job or sub data object.
	Note: The variables must have identical display names.
Default value	Enter the value to use as the default for the field.
	Note: Note that the default value is adopted only when you create an object (data object/job). Changing the default value does not have any effect on objects that were created already.
Visibility	Note: This is visible only if a single-select or multi-select is already created for the type.
	Activate the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> to display the selection field only after a user has selected a specific value for a different selection field on the data sheet.
Variable*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated.
	You can choose the selection field upon whose value you want to make the visibility dependent.

Name	Description
Value*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated.
	You can specify which value must be selected in order to display the variable.

Selection with Multiselect, display type: SelectionBox



Selection with Singleselect, display type: OptionBoxArea

Option auswählen 👔	
Phone ZX	
O Phone ZX Lite	
O Phone ZX Pro	

4.1.7 Single input line and Multiline input area

Use single input line and/or multiline input area *text fields* to allow users to enter text on the data sheet.

Note: You can enter a maximum of approximately 500,000 characters in a multiline input area.

Name	Description
Unique name Technical Name	Note: This is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Name displayed	Define the name with which the variable is displayed on the data sheet. You can create any language versions that are required. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Type spanning	Select this checkbox to display variables with an identical technical name and identical variable type in one column in the filter view. See Grouping variables see page 37.
Max. Characters	Define the maximum number of characters that can be entered in the field.
Columns Visible	Note: Visible only for multiline input areas. You can define the width of the input area by specifying the number of columns.
Lines Visible	Note: Visible only for multiline input areas. You can define the height of the input area by specifying the number of lines.
Complete width	Note: This is visible only for multiline input areas. Activate this checkbox to utilize the entire width of the data sheet for the input area in a one-column layout. If you activate this checkbox, leave the <i>Columns Visible</i> field empty.
Allow formatting	Note: Visible only for multiline input areas. This checkbox can only be activated while you create the variables. This displays a rich-text editor that allows users to format the text (for example, bold, italics, underline, and so on).

Name	Description
Editor configuration	Note: This is visible only for multiline input areas and if the <i>Allow formatting</i> checkbox is activated.
	You can select an editor configuration from the selection list. This allows you to define which formatting the user can use in the text field. For more information, see the configuration manual.
Reg. Exp. Validator	Note: Visible only for single input lines.
	Enter a regular expression in the field to check the entry for validity. For example, you can ensure that entries for BIC codes or e-mail addresses are provided in a specific format.
Input Size	Note: Visible only for single input lines.
	Defines the maximum number of characters displayed. If more characters are entered, the field gets a scroll bar.
Suffix	Note: Visible only for single input lines.
	You can enter a suffix (Millimeter or %, for example) that is attached to the field.
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users.
Shared value	Note: This is visible only if the type is a data object type and localization is enabled (see Localization see page 14).
	Note: Note that the variable can be selected as language-neutral only while you create it. The <i>Shared value</i> field cannot be changed at a later stage!
	Activate the checkbox if you want the variable value to receive the same value in each localized data object version.
Inherit from parent	Note: This is visible only if the type permits inheritance (Inheritance dropdown list = Multiple parents).
	Activate this checkbox if you want the data record to adopt the values of a parent job or data object as a sub-job or sub data object.
	Note: The variables must have identical display names.
Default value	Enter the value to use as the default for the field.
	Note: Note that the default value is adopted only when you create an object (data object/job). Changing the default value does not have any effect on objects that were created already.

Name	Description
Prefilling from custom structure	Select a custom structure and a defined attribute of this structure.
	By choosing <i>Key</i> , you can configure the pre-assignment of a value based on the branch number of the current user or on the name of the user. In the process, the unique names of the custom objects must match the branch number or the username.
	You can use the option <i>Override with</i> to link the display in the text field to a single selection that is connected to the same custom structure: In the single selection, you choose one of the custom objects (for instance, the branch office). The text field is linked to the attribute <i>Address</i> . If a different affiliate is set in the single selection, the corresponding address is automatically displayed in the text field.
	If you activate the checkbox <i>Activate a fixed connection to the selected</i> " <i>custom object</i> ", the text field content is updated automatically if the custom structure is changed at a central location. Note that to do so, a value must be selected in the <i>Override with</i> selection list.
Visibility	Note: This is visible only if a single-select or multi-select is already created for the type.
	Activate the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> to display the field only after a user has selected a specific value for a selection field on the data sheet.
Variable	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated.
	You can choose the selection field upon whose value you want to make the visibility dependent.
Value	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated.
	variable.



4.1.8 Enter multiple values

Use the variable *Multiple values inputlines* to place a field for two related values (height and width, for example) next to each other on a data sheet.

Name	Description
Unique name Technical Name	Note: This is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Name displayed	Define the name with which the variable is displayed on the data sheet. You can create any language versions that are required. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Type spanning	Select this checkbox to display variables with an identical technical name and identical variable type in one column in the filter view. See Grouping variables see page 37.
Shared value	 Note: This is visible only if the type is a data object type and localization is enabled (see Localization see page 14). Note: Note that the variable can be selected as language-neutral only while you create it. The <i>Shared value</i> field cannot be changed at a later stage! Activate the checkbox if you want the variable value to receive the same value in each localized data object version.
Percentage	Distribute the width of both input fields in percentage to the total width of the data sheet.
Max. Characters	Define the maximum number of characters that can be entered in the field.
Reg. Exp. Validator	Enter a regular expression in the field to check the entry for validity. For example, you can then ensure that bank codes or e-mail addresses have been entered in a specific format.
Input Size	Define the width of the variables. If so many characters are entered that cannot be displayed in the configured width, the field is provided with a scroll bar.
Suffix	You can enter a suffix (Millimeter or %, for example) that is attached to the field.
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users.

Name	Description
Inherit from parent	Note: This is visible only if the type permits inheritance (Inheritance dropdown list = Multiple parents).
	Activate this checkbox if you want the data record to adopt the values of a parent job or data object as a sub-job or sub data object.
	Note: The variables must have identical display names.
Default value	Enter the value to use as the default for the field.
	Note: Note that the default value is adopted only when you create an object (data object/job). Changing the default value does not have any effect on objects that were created already.
Visibility	Note: This is visible only if a single-select or multi-select is already created for the type.
	Activate the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> to display the field only after a user has selected a specific value for a selection field on the data sheet.
Variable*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated.
	You can choose the selection field upon whose value you want to make the visibility dependent.
Value*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated.
	You can specify which value must be selected in order to display the variable.

In this example, the input is invalid because the regex default, which only allows three-digit numbers, is not met and the lowercase letter "o" was entered instead of zero.

Dimensions ?	
340	225
mm	mm
"Dimensions" is invalid	

4.1.8.1 Examples of regular expressions

When creating or modifying the expressions, you can use an online tool such as <u>https://regexr.com/</u> for testing. The following table provides you with some proven examples for a successful start. For further support, please visit the above website.

Name	Description
E-mail address	/([\w\.\]+)?\w+@[\w]+(\.\w+){1,}/igm
SWIFT BIC Code	/^[A-Z]{6}[A-Z0-9]{2}([A-Z0-9]{3})?\$/
IBAN without spaces	<pre>[a-zA-Z]{2}[0-9]{2}[a-zA-Z0-9]{4}[0-9]{7}([a-zA-Z0- 9]?){0,16}</pre>
Three digit number	\d{3}
German zip code	[0-9] {5}
IPv4 address	^(?:(?:25[0-5] 2[0-4][0-9] [01]?[0-9][0-9]?)\.){3}(?: 25[0-5] 2[0-4][0-9] [01]?[0-9][0-9]?)\$

4.1.9 Combo box

Use a *Combo box* to combine the features of a *Single select* and *Single inputline* with each other. In a combo box, users can:

• Select from values that are defined as a data source using a custom structure.

Note: Stored values are proposed using Auto-Complete.

• Enter other values that are different from the stored values if required.

Prerequisites:

• You require a custom structure that you can select as the data source.

Name	Description
Unique Name Technical Name	Note: This is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Name displayed	Define the name with which the variable is displayed on the data sheet. You can create any language versions that are required. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.

Name	Description
Type spanning	Select this checkbox to display variables with an identical technical name and identical variable type in one column in the filter view.
	See Grouping variables see page 37.
Data Source*	Select an existing custom structure as data source for the values of the selection field.
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users.
Shared value	Note: This is visible only if the type is a data object type and localization is enabled (see Localization see page 14).
	Note: Note that the variable can be selected as language-neutral only while you create it. The <i>Shared value</i> field cannot be changed at a later stage!
	Activate the checkbox if you want the variable value to receive the same value in each localized data object version.
Inherit from parent	Note: This is visible only if the type permits inheritance (<i>Inheritance</i> dropdown list = Multiple parents).
	Activate this checkbox if you want the data record to adopt the values of a parent job or data object as a sub-job or sub data object.
	Note: The variables must have identical display names.
Default value	Enter the value to use as the default for the field.
	Note: Note that the default value is adopted only when you create an object (data object/job). Changing the default value does not have any effect on objects that were created already.
Visibility	Note: This is visible only if a single-select or multi-select is already created for the type.
	Activate the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> to display the selection field only after a user has selected a specific value for a different selection field on the data sheet.
Variable*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated.
	You can choose the selection field upon whose value you want to make the visibility dependent.
Value*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated.
	You can specify which value must be selected in order to display the variable.



4.1.10 Link

You use a *Link* to create a reference to another page in the Marketing Efficiency Cloud (e.g., a Marketing Shop page) or an external website.

Name	Description
Unique name Technical Name	Note: This is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Name displayed	Define the name with which the variable is displayed on the data sheet. You can create any language versions that are required. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Туре	 You can create two different types of links: <i>Relative</i>: This creates a link to an existing page in the Marketing Efficiency Cloud (for example, a Marketing Shop page. Do not enter the entire address as the link; instead, enter only the part that is relevant to the link. The "front" part of the link (the URL of your system) is generated and added automatically. <i>Absolute</i>: This creates a link to an external web page.
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users.
URL	Enter the address of the (web) page for which you want to create a link. Note: You must enter the full address for an external web page (including "http://" or "https://").
Visibility	Note: This is visible only if a single-select or multi-select is already created for the type. Activate the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> to display the selection field only after a user has selected a specific value for a different selection field on the data sheet.
Variable*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated. You can choose the selection field upon whose value you want to make the visibility dependent.
Value*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated. You can specify which value must be selected in order to display the variable.



4.1.11 Asset Selector

Use an *Asset Selector* to make the buttons *Upload new assets* and *Select from Media Pool* available on a data sheet. You can use the *Upload new assets* function to add both locally saved files and assets from a collection to the data sheet. You can also specify that assets are added to a data sheet automatically based on specific criteria.

Note: the assets that can be selected and edited are determined by the authorizations of the user.

Name	Description
Unique name Technical Name	Note: This is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Display name*	Define the name with which the variable is displayed on the data sheet. You can create any language versions that are required. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Type spanning	Select this checkbox to display variables with an identical technical name and identical variable type in one column in the filter view. See Grouping variables see page 37.
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users.
Shared value	Note: This is visible only if the type is a data object type and localization is enabled (see Localization see page 14). Note: Note that the variable can be selected as language-neutral only while you create it. The <i>Shared value</i> field cannot be changed at a later stage! Activate the checkbox if you want the variable value to receive the same
	value in each localized data object version.

Name	Description
Inherit from parent	Note: This is visible only if the type permits inheritance (Inheritance dropdown list = Multiple parents).
	Activate this checkbox if you want the data record to adopt the values of a parent job or data object as a sub-job or sub data object.
	Note: The variables must have identical display names.
Prefilling from custom structure	Select a custom structure and a created attribute.
	By choosing <i>Key</i> , you can configure the display of an asset based on the affiliate ID.
	You can use the option <i>Override with</i> to link the display of an asset to a single selection that is linked to the same custom structure: in the single selection, you choose one of the custom objects (for instance, the data object). The text field is linked to the attribute <i>Product image</i> . If a different data object is set in the single selection, the corresponding data object image is automatically displayed in the text field.
Select media automatically	Activate this checkbox to add assets with the following properties to a data sheet automatically:
	• Show all assets with the same 'Item Number'
	• Show all media that include ID in 'free text field': Specify the free text field in which the job ID or data object ID must be entered.
	Note: If one of these options is activated, users cannot select assets manually.
Free text field	Note: This can only be used when the checkbox <i>Show all media that include ID in 'free text field'</i> is activated.
	You can specify the free text field in which the job ID or data object ID must be entered.
Visibility	Note: This is visible only if a single-select or multi-select is already created for the type.
	Activate the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> to display the variable only after a user has selected a specific value for a different selection field on the data sheet.
Variable*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated.
	You can choose the selection field upon whose value you want to make the visibility dependent.
Name	Description
--------	--
Value*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated.
	You can specify which value must be selected in order to display the variable.

😻 Mozilla Firefox		—	×
O A https:///////////////////////////////////	ediadb/import/ImportMediaToOwnCo	llection.jsp?collectionType=6&callback=assignAlt 🏠 🗦	=
Drag and drop files here to add files to the	queue.	BROWSE	
	θ	O	
QUEUE	FAILED	DONE	
	No results found!		
Drag and drop fi	les here or click Browse to add fi	les to the queue.	
		► START	_
Add new Asset 👔			
ADD ASSET			

4.1.12 Advanced Grid

Use an *Advanced Grid* to place information or input fields clearly on the data sheet. The variables selected for the advanced grid are displayed as the grid columns. You can group the following variable types together in an advanced grid:

- Single inputline
- Date picker
- Single select
- Reference/Relation
- *Relation*: Use a *Relation* to connect a specific variable from a different data sheet (an Asset Selector, for example).

Note: Note that you can only add a *Relation* if you have already created a *Relation* variable in the table.

• Organizational units

Note: You can only add the *Organizational units* variable type to the advanced grid once. If you add other variable types, the *Organizational units* entry is no longer displayed for selection.

- Multiline input area
- Asset Selector
- Multiselect
- Combo box
- Action: An action button can be integrated into an extended table. Via the button, users call customer-specific functions. The button is not displayed in a column like other variables, but the user reaches the button when a row is in edit mode. Clicking the button invokes a URL stored in the variable.

Each variable type can be configured as a mandatory field, which means that the user must edit the field when populating the table. To do this, set the checkbox at *Mandatory field* when creating.

Name	Description
Unique name Technical Name	 Note: This is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9. Note: If you want the values of a parent table to be inherited by the table, the technical name of the parent and child tables must be identical.
Name displayed	Define the name with which the variable is displayed on the data sheet. You can create any language versions that are required. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Max. No. of rows	Define how many maximum rows the table can contain.
Table height	Enter the table height in pixels.
Complete width	Activate this checkbox to utilize the entire width of the data sheet. Note: If this checkbox is activated, the variable can only be placed on a one-column data sheet layout.
Records per page	Define with how many records per page the table is paginated: 10, 20, 50 or 100 records per page or without pagination. Note: Note that the performance for displaying large tables with pagination improves considerably.

Name	Description		
Prefill from parent	Activate this checkbox if you want the table to be filled by a table in a higher-level job or data object. The user can edit the table in the child job or child data object and delete and add data records. The user can also refresh the data filled by the parent element. All changes are lost in this case. Note: For a successful inheritance, the parent and child tables must have an identical technical name.		
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users.		
Shared value	 Note: This is visible only if the type is a data object type and localization is enabled (see Localization see page 14). Note: Note that the variable can be selected as language-neutral only while you create it. The <i>Shared value</i> field cannot be changed at a later stage! Activate the checkbox if you want the variable value to receive the same value in each localized data object version. 		
Create new	You can add an additional variable to the grid.		
Variables	 Your selected variables are listed in the <i>Variables</i> area. You can: Change the order of the variables. Open a variable for editing. Copy a variable. Delete a variable and remove it from the table. 		

Job Manager	and Marketing	Data Hub -	- Administration	Manual
-------------	---------------	------------	------------------	--------

уре	Grid				
Jnique Name*	tabelle				
Fechnical Name*	tabelle				
)isplay name*	Table			<i>9</i> 4	
lax. No. of rows	15				
Complete width	V				
Help text				9 7	
Create new /ariables*:					
Name		Technical Name	Variable Type	Custom Object Sourc	e Edit
Province		bundesland	Single inputline		∧ ∨ I □ □
Wour division		ihre_abteilung	Organizational units		^ ✓
Wour store		ihre_filiale	Combobox		· · ∕ / □ ∎
Wour product	line	ihre_produktlinie	Relation		^ ∨ I □ □
		media	Relation property		

4.1.13 Comfort Grid

Users can also use the comfort grid to enter data in a clear tabular form. When users fill in the grid on the data sheet, numerous keyboard shortcuts in particular make editing easier. Please refer to the user manuals for details.

4.1.13.1 Data Types

You can use the following data for a comfort grid:

- One-line text field
- Numbers
- Single select: selection of a value from a structured list.
- Date
- Formula, for details see chapter

Each variable type, except formula. can be configured as a mandatory field, i.e., the user must edit the field when filling the table. To do this, set the checkbox at *Mandatory field* when creating.

Numerical and date values are displayed and entered localized according to the selected UI language:

Comfort Table			
+ ADD TREMOVE			
NAME OF BROSCHURE	DATE OF PRINT	PRINT COLORS	NUMBER OF COPIES
Product X	04/16/2020	4 colours (Euro Scale)	1,000
Product Serie YY	04/21/2020	2 colours (Black + spot colour)	2,000
Service Z	04/30/2020	Black and white	\$00 \$

4.1.13.2 Summary row

You can set up a summary for each table variable in the footer of the table. To do this, enter a name and select one of the following functions:

- SUM(): Sum of all numbers in the column
- AVERAGE(): arithmetic mean of all numbers in the column
- MAX(): highest value in the column
- MIN(): lowest value in the column
- COUNT(): number of values in the column
- MIN_OCCURRENCE():Value that occurs least in the column.

Example

The column is a variable of type Single-Selection with the values A, B, C and D. The column contains 5 times A, 1 time B, 0 times C and 3 times D. The result in the footer is C (0).

If the result is not unique, several values are displayed separated by commas.

• MAX_OCCURRENCE(): Value that occurs most frequently in the column.

Example

The column is a variable of type Single-Selection with the values A, B, C and D.

The column contains 5 times A, 1 time B, 0 times C and 3 times D. The result in the footer is A (5).

If the result is not unique, several values are displayed separated by commas.

- MEDIAN(): Median of the values in the column
- DEVIATION(): Deviation, rounded to two decimal places
- VARIANCE(): Variance, rounded to two decimal places

You can combine the functions with table variable types as follows

	Text	Date	Single Select	Number	Formula
SUM()				~	\checkmark
AVERAGE()				~	\checkmark
MAX()		~		~	\checkmark
MIN()		~		~	~
COUNT()	~	~	\checkmark	~	~
MIN_OCCURRENCE()		~	\checkmark	~	~
MAX_OCCURRENCE()		~	\checkmark	~	~
MEDIAN()				~	~
DEVIATION()				~	\checkmark
VARIANCE()				~	\checkmark

4.1.13.3 Formula variables

With a formula variable, you calculate values in a column according to an entered formula. The following operators and operands are available:

- +, -, /, * and (and)
- Numbers
- Other variables of the *Number* type within the table. You address the variables as follows: {*Name of the variable*}. Then the value of the variable is copied from the same row into the formula. Note Example 1 below.
- The following summaries for other columns. Note Example 2 below:
 - SUM(): sum of all numbers in the column
 - AVERAGE(): arithmetic mean of all numbers in the column
 - MAX(): highest value in the column
 - MIN(): lowest value in the column

- COUNT(): number of values in the column
- MEDIAN(): Median of the values in the column
- DEVIATION(): Deviation, rounded to two decimal places
- VARIANCE(): Variance, rounded to two decimal places
- Mathematical operations and constants according to the following <u>Library</u>; note Example 3 below.

Example 1

A table is to be used to enter visitor data for events, categorized by visitors over 18 years of age, visitors under 18 years of age, and visitors who participated in the event online. For this you need the average in the respective category over all events.

Additionally you want to calculate the following values:

- Total number of visitors
- Percentage of online visitors

For these values, you also want to know the average across all events.

Implementation: Create a variable of type *Comfort Grid* on the job type datasheet. Add the following column variables to the table:

odify Variable				×
Type*	Comfort Grid			
Unique Name	debesucherdaten	envisitor		
Technical Name*	debesucherdater	nenvisitor_data		
Display name*	Visitor Data		€o	
Prefil from Parent				
Help text			€o	
Create new Variables*				
Unique Name		Variable Type	Custom Object Source	Edt
S Event		Single Inputline		· • / B #
S Visitors 18 y	years and older	Number Inputline		· · ∕ Ď 🗊
S Visitors und	er 18 years	Number Inputline		· · / B #
S Visitors Only	ne	Number Inputline		∧ ∨ / B #
Total number	r of visitors	Formula		· · / B =
Percentage	Online	Formula		· · ∕ Þ 11
				Close Save

- Event: simple text field, summary function: COUNT() to get the total number of events.
- Visitors U18: simple number field to enter the number of visitors over 18 years old, summary function: AVERAGE()

- Visitors U18: simple number field to enter the number of visitors over 18 years old, summary function: AVERAGE()
- Visitors online: simple number field to enter the number of visitors who participated online; summary function: AVERAGE()

These fields are edited for each event by the user on the datasheet. To calculate the other values, create two formula variables in the comfort grid:

Total number of visitors: The formula is
 {Visitors O18}+{Visitors U18}+{Visitors online}
 The formula adds up the entered values in the number fields for each event in the
 respective row. Note that the names in the curly brackets must correspond to the
 names of the number field variables described above.

Type*:	Formula	
Unique Name*:	Gesamtzahl Besucher	
Display name*:	Total number of visitors	€⊕
Help text:		€⊕
Formula*:	{Besucher Ü18}+{Besucher U18}+{Besucher Online}	
Summary	AVERAGE()	<i>I</i> _
(Name/Value):		
Decimal places:	0 🖉	

 Share Online: The formula is (100*{Visitors Online})/({Visitors Online}+{Visitors O18}+{Visitors U18}).

Type*:	Formula	
Unique Name*:	Anteil Online	
Display name*:	Percentage Online	€⊕
Help text:		€⊕
Formula*:	(100*{Besucher Online})/({Besucher Online}+{Besucher	Ü18}+{Besucher U1
Summary	AVERAGE()	<i>I</i> .
(Name/Value):		
Decimal places:	0	

The following screenshot displays how a correspondingly filled table is displayed on the datasheet.

Visitor Data							
-P ADD I	RECORD						
EVENT	VISITORS 18 YEARS	VISITORS UNDER 18	VISITORS ONLINE	TOTAL NUMBER OF VISITORS	PERCENTAGE ONLINE		
Event A	20	5	25	50	50		
Event B	18	4	15	37	41		
Event C	12	12	12	36	33		
Event D	17	7	20	44	45		
Event E	17	5	21	43	49		
Event F	14	6	18	38	47		
Event G	7	3	20	30	67		
Total: 7.00	15	6	19	40	47		

In this case, the user only fills in the first four columns. The last two columns are calculated automatically.

Example 2

You want to compile and evaluate the number of distributed advertising media in a table.

Implementation: Create a variable of type *Comfort Grid* on the job type datasheet. Add the following column variables to the table:

nique Name destatistische_berechnungenenstatistical_cakculations spiay name* Statistical calculations spiay name* Statistical calculations spiay name* Statistical calculations etill from Parent	rpe*	Comfort Grid			
chnical Name* destatistische_berechnungenenstatistical_calculations spilay name* Statistical calculations effil from Parent effil from Parent spi bext spitables*: Unique Name Variable Type Custom Object Source Edit Advertising material Single Inputline Spi Quantby Number Inputline Formula Formula	nique Name	destatistische_bere	schnun		
apiay name* Statistical calculations Tetill from Parent elp text pelp text create new ariables*: Unique Name Variable Type Custom Object Source Edt Advertising material Single Inputline Number Inputline Percentage Formula Formula	echnical Name*	destatistische_ber	echnungenenstatistical_calculatio	ons	
efil from Parent elp text create new ariables*: Unique Name Variable Type Custom Object Source Edit Advertising material Single Inputine Country Number Inputine Formula Formula	isplay name*	Statistical calculate	ons	€o	
elp text Create new ariables*: Unique Name Variable Type Custom Object Source Edit Single Inputline Single Inputline Single Inputline Single Percentage Formula	refill from Parent				
Interference Variable Type Custom Object Source Edt Single Inputine Image: Single Inputine Image: Single Inputine Image: Single Inputine Output Number Inputine Image: Single Inputine Image: Single Inputine Percentage Formula Image: Single Input Inp				€⊕	
Create new ariables*: Unique Name Variable Type Custom Object Source Edit Single Inputline 	np text				
ritables*: Unique Name Variable Type Custom Object Source Edit Advertising material Single Inputine	Create new				
Unique hame Variable hype Custom Object Source Edit Single Inputine A V D If Quantity Number Inputine A V D If Percentage Formula A V D If	ariables*:				
Ousantity Number Inputine Percentage Formula					
Spercentage Formula	Unique Name	vaterial	Variable Type Single Inputline	Custom Object Source	Edit
	Unique Name	naterial	Variable Type Single Inputline Number Inputline	Custom Object Source	
	Unique Name Advertising n Cuantity Percentage	vaterial	Variable Type Single Inputline Number Inputline Formula	Custom Object Source	
	Unique Name Advertising n Ouantby Percentage	naterial	Variable Type Single Inputline Number Inputline Formula	Custom Object Source	
	Unique Name	aterial	Variable Type Single Inputline Number Inputline Formula	Custom Object Source	
	Unique Name	naterial	Variable Type Single Inputline Number Inputline Formula	Custom Object Source	
	Unique Name S Advertising n C Quantity Percentage	naterial	Variable Type Single Inputine Number Inputine Formula	Custom Object Source	
	Unique Name S Advertising n Quantity Percentage	naterial	Variable Type Single Inputline Number Inputline Formula	Custom Object Source	
	Unique Name Advertising n Ouantty Percentage	naterial	Variable Type Single Inputline Number Inputline Formula	Custom Object Source	

- Advertising media: Simple text field, without summary function
- Number: Simple number field to enter the number of ad media, summary function: SUM()

These fields are edited for each ad media by the user on the datasheet. To calculate the percentage, create a formula variable in the comfort grid:

• Ratio: The formula is

{Number}*100/SUM({Number})

The formula takes the entered number of the ad media in the respective row and calculates the share of the sum of all values entered in the Number column. The result is given with one decimal place.

Type*:	Formula	
Unique Name*:	Anteil	
Display name*:	Percentage	₽⊕
Help text:		Ĩ⊕
Formula*:	{Anzah}*100/SUM({Anzah})	
Summary		r.
(Name/Value):		
Decimal places:	1	

Example 3

With the following <u>Library</u> (external link) you can insert mathematical functions and constants in the formulas. You can insert the functions and constants into the formulas as follows:

- Example Pi: You want to multiply a value from the *Diameter* column by Pi. The entry in the formula line is: Math.PI{Diameter}
- Example Powers: You want to take the square root of the sum of two column values: Math.pow({column A}+{column B}, 0.5)

4.1.13.4 Grid Parameters

Name	Description
Unique name Technical Name	Note: this is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. See chapter 1.1.
Display Name	Define the name with which the variable is displayed on the data sheet. You can create any language versions that are required. You can create required language versions. See chapter 1.1.
Prefill from parent	Activate this checkbox if you want the table to be filled by a table in a higher-level job or data object. The user can edit the table in the child job or child data object and delete and add data records. The user can also refresh the data filled by the parent element. All changes are lost in this case. Note: For a successful inheritance, the parent and child tables must have an identical technical name.
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users. You can create required language versions.
Create new	You can add an additional variable to the grid. Simple text fields, number fields and date fields have the option for <i>Pre-filling from custom structure</i> within the comfort grid. See above in the table under 4.1.7.
Variables	 Your selected variables are listed in the <i>Variables</i> area. You can: Change the order of the variables. Open a variable for editing. Copy a variable. Delete a variable and remove it from the table. For a description of the parameters for the various table variables, see the following chapter 4.1.13.5.
Prefilling from custom structure	Activate the checkbox to be able to select already existing values of the type <i>Single select</i> here. After you select a column, you can select an attribute in the field below it. There, only attributes of type date, text, floating point number and integer can be selected.

4.1.13.5 Grid Variables

Single inputline variable

Name	Description
Unique name Technical Name	Note: this is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. See chapter 1.1.
Display Name	Define the name with which the variable is displayed in the table. You can create required language versions.
Help text	Enter the help text that can be displayed for a user. You can create required language versions.
Default value	Enter a default value.
Summary	Enter a designation in the left field. Select a function for the summary in the right field, see chapter 4.1.13.2.
Mandatory	Activate the check box if the user has to edit the column.
Prefilling from custom structure	Activate the checkbox to be able to select already existing values of the type "Single selection" here. After you select a column, you can select an attribute in the field below it. There only attributes of type date, text, floating point number and integer can be selected.

dify Variable			
Туре*	Comfort Grid		
Unique Name	dekomforttabelleen	comfor	
Technical Name M	lodify Variable Delleer		×
Display name*	Туре*:	Single Inputline	
Prefill from Pare	Display name*:	€	
	Help text:	€⊕	
Help text	Default value:		
Conditions for	Summary	l.	
Visibility	(Name/Value):		
Create new	is mandatory:		
Variables*:	Prefilling from custom structure:		
Unique Name	Select column:	State	it .
Name Date of Print	Select attribute:	Description	
State			
Edition		Number inputiine Close Save	

With version 7.2, simple text fields, simple number fields and date selections can now be prefilled in a comfort grid.

Date picker variable

Name	Description
Unique name Technical Name	Note: this is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. See chapter 1.1.
Display Name	Define the name with which the variable is displayed in the table. You can create required language versions.
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users. You can create required language versions.
Summary	Enter a designation in the left field. Select a function for the summary in the right field, see chapter 4.1.13.2.
Mandatory	Activate the check box if the user has to edit the column.
Prefilling from custom structure	Activate the checkbox to be able to select already existing values of the type "Single selection" here. Select an existing custom structure and a created attribute whose values you want to use to prefill the date picker.

Single select variable

Name	Description
Unique name Technical Name	Note: this is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. See chapter 1.1.
Display Name	Define the name with which the variable is displayed in the table. You can create required language versions.
Source	Choose a custom structure as source for the dropdown list.
Dependent on parent selection	Note: Only visible if a single selection has already been created in the table, which is linked to the custom structure superior to the data source. Activate the checkbox if the display of the selections in this field depends on the setting in another selection field, for example the display of street names on the selection of a town in another selection field.
Parent selection	Note: This is visible only if the <i>Dependent on parent selection</i> checkbox is activated. Select the parent field containing the setting that the displayed values of the selection depend on.

Name	Description
Help text	Enter the help text that can be displayed for a user. You can create required language versions.
Default value	Select a default value.
Summary	Enter a designation in the left field. Select a function for the summary in the right field, see chapter 4.1.13.2.
Mandatory	Activate the check box if the user has to edit the column.

Single number field variable

Name	Description
Unique name Technical Name	Note: this is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. See chapter 1.1.
Display Name	Define the name with which the variable is displayed in the table. You can create required language versions.
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users. You can create required language versions.
Default value	Enter a default value.
Summary	Enter a designation in the left field. Select a function for the summary in the right field, see chapter 4.1.13.2.
Decimal places	Set the number of decimal places with which the data in the column will be displayed. Possible are 0 to 10 decimal places.
Mandatory	Activate the check box if the user has to edit the column.
Prefilling from custum structure	Activate the checkbox to be able to select already existing values of the type "Single selection" here. Select an existing modifiable structure and a created attribute with whose values the number field will be prepopulated.

Formula variable

Name	Description
Unique name Technical Name	Note: this is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. See chapter 1.1.
Display Name	Define the name with which the variable is displayed in the table. You can create required language versions.
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users. You can create required language versions.
Formula	Enter the formula.
Summary	Enter a designation in the left field. Select a function for the summary in the right field, see chapter 4.1.13.2.
Decimal places	Set the number of decimal places used to display the data in the column. Possible are 0 to 10 decimal places.

4.1.14 Heading

Use a *Headline Text* to name the sections of a data sheet and structure the placed variables, for example.

The following parameters are provided when you create or change the variables:

Name	Description
Unique name Technical Name	Note: This is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Text	This displays the title used to display the headline text on the data sheet. You can create any language versions that are required. The text is used as the display name in the system; see Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Visibility	Note: This is visible only if a single-select or multi-select is already created for the type. Activate the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> to display the field only after a user has selected a specific value for a different selection field on the data sheet.
Variable	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated. You can choose the dropdown list upon whose value you want to make the visibility dependent.
Value	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated. You can specify which value must be selected in order to display the variable.

HEADLINE - Please select

Default media

ADD ASSET

4.1.15 Reference/Relation

Use a *Relation* to link data sheets to each other. For example, users select a job from a selection list. Users can then open the relevant datasheet directly from the displayed link.

Prerequisites:

• You require at least one type that you can reference.

Name	Description
Unique name Technical Name	Note: This is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Name displayed	Define the name with which the variable is displayed on the data sheet. You can create any language versions that are required. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Type spanning	Select this checkbox to display variables with an identical technical name and identical variable type in one column in the filter view. See Grouping variables see page 37.
Module*	This selects the module containing the types to which you want to make the reference.
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users.
Shared value	Note: This is visible only if the type is a data object type and localization is enabled (see Localization see page 14). Note: Note that the variable can be selected as language-neutral only while you create it. The <i>Shared value</i> field cannot be changed at a later stage! Activate the checkbox if you want the variable value to receive the same
Туре	All of the types that are available based on the module that you selected are displayed. You can select the types that you want to reference.
Visibility	Note: This is visible only if a single-select or multi-select is already created for the type. Activate the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> to display the variable only after a user has selected a specific value for a different selection field on the data sheet.

Name	Description
Variable*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated.
	You can choose the dropdown list upon whose value you want to make the visibility dependent.
Value*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated.
	You can specify which value must be selected in order to display the variable.

Phone ZX Pro (P-3)	-
Phone Q (P-6)	
Phone Q Light (P-9)	
Phone Q Pro (P-10)	
Phone ZX (P-2)	
Phone ZX Light (P-4)	
Phone ZX Pro (P-3)	
SmartS (P-11)	
Tablet Q (P-15)	

4.1.16 Template

Use a *Template* variable to add a template from *Brand Template Builder* module to the data sheet. You can link the text boxes from the template to the variables on the data sheet to fill the corresponding text boxes automatically when editing the documents. Choose *Edit document* to open the document. If the values of the variables linked to the text boxes have been changed, a separate dialog box is displayed in which you can decide which content elements from the document are to be updated.

Note: A *BTB template* can be placed only on a one-column data sheet layout. To edit a document, you must have the corresponding rights.

Name	Description
Unique name Technical Name	Note: This is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Display name*	Define the name with which the variable is displayed on the data sheet. You can create any language versions that are required. See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Type spanning	Select this checkbox to display variables with an identical technical name and identical variable type in one column in the filter view. See Grouping variables see page 37.
Template ID*	Enter the ID number (excluding T-) for the template that you want to use.
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users.
Shared value	 Note: This is visible only if the type is a data object type and localization is enabled (see Localization see page 14). Note: Note that the variable can be selected as language-neutral only while you create it. The <i>Shared value</i> field cannot be changed at a later stage! Activate the checkbox if you want the variable value to receive the same value in each localized data object version.
Inherit from parent	Note: This is visible only if the type permits inheritance (Inheritance dropdown list = Multiple parents). Activate this checkbox if you want the data record to adopt the values of a parent job or data object as a sub-job or sub data object. Note: The variables must have identical display names.

Name	Description
Preview	As soon as you have entered a valid ID of a template, a preview image of the template is displayed.
Assign variables to boxes	You can assign a data sheet variable to the text boxes of the template that is in use.
Visibility	Note: This is visible only if a single-select or multi-select is already created for the type. Activate the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> to display the variable only after a user has selected a specific value for a different selection field on the data sheet.
Variable*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated. You can choose the dropdown list upon whose value you want to make the visibility dependent.
Value*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated. You can specify which value must be selected in order to display the variable.

Note: As soon as a new Web-to-Publish document is created, a preview of the created document is displayed on the data sheet.

Edit brochure ?			
Edit Not Second	brochure edited yet		
Zeit eingeben 🕜			
28.02.2023	17:45	0	
Wählen Sie den Termin aus:	0		
01.03.2023	#		

4.1.17 Numbers

Use the *Numbers* variable to make an input field for numbers available to users on the data sheet.

Name	Description
Unique name Technical Name	Note: This is visible only if the variable is changed. Neither fields are visible when you create the variable.
	See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Name displayed	Define the name with which the variable is displayed on the data sheet. You can create any language versions that are required.
	See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Type spanning	Select this checkbox to display variables with an identical technical name and identical variable type in one column in the filter view.
	See Grouping variables see page 37.
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users.
Use Unit	Select this checkbox to add a unit to the field.
Shared value	Note: This is visible only if the type is a data object type and localization is enabled (see Localization see page 14).
	Note: Note that the variable can be selected as language-neutral only while you create it. The <i>Shared value</i> field cannot be changed at a later stage!
	Activate the checkbox if you want the variable value to receive the same value in each localized data object version.
Unit of measure	Note: This is visible only if the Use Unit checkbox is activated.
	You can select whether a unit for <i>Length</i> or <i>Weight</i> is displayed.
Default unit	Note: This is visible only if the <i>Use Unit</i> checkbox is activated.
	You can define a default entry for the unit of measure, such as centimeter (cm) or kilogram (kg).
Inherit from parent	Note: This is visible only if the type permits inheritance (Inheritance dropdown list = Multiple parents).
	Activate this checkbox if you want the data record to adopt the values of a parent job or data object as a sub-job or sub data object.
	Note: The variables must have identical display names.

Name	Description
Visibility	Note: This is visible only if a single-select or multi-select is already created for the type.
	Activate the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> to display the variable only after a user has selected a specific value for a different selection field on the data sheet.
Variable	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated.
	You can choose the dropdown list upon whose value you want to make the visibility dependent.
Value	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated.
	You can specify which value must be selected in order to display the variable.

Mengeneingabe		
125	lb	•
	Verfügb	are Werte:
56,69904625	kg	-

If the number field is enabled with the option *Use Unit*, it can also run conversions between units for you. For comparison, you can see a simple number field below.

Ankaufswert in € 🕜
667,6

4.2 System variables

When you create a new type, variables are created and placed on the data sheet automatically. Absolutely vital system variables include:

- Job/data object name
- Job/data object type
- Workflow

Other system variables can be removed from the data sheet but cannot be deleted.

Note: The technical names of the system variables are used in the list. There may be a different name in the *Display name* field.

Technical Name	Variable type/Description
WorkflowTiming	Workflow timings: This variable is used to display the start date, duration, and due date of the current workflow step.
ArticleNumber	Single inputline: This variable can be used to display an existing item number (for an asset, for example).
Owner	Bean property: This variable is used to display the assignee.
Description	Multiline inputarea: This variable provides an input field. By default, the maximum number of characters is limited to 1000 and the height is defined as 3 lines.
CreateDate	Datepicker: This variable is used to display the create date.
Creator	Bean property: This variable is used to display the creator of the job or data object.
Deadline	Datepicker: This variable is used to make a date field available for the due date.
CurrentStepOverdueDate	Dynamic date: This variable is used to display the time (number of days) since the job or data object has been in a workflow step.
WorkflowOverdueDate	Dynamic date: This variable is used to display the number of days that the job or data object is overdue (in relation to the defined due date for the workflow step).
Job/data object name	Single inputline: This variable is used to provide an input field for the job or data object name.
JobIdFormatted	Constant variable: This variable is used to display the unique ID of the job or data object.

Technical Name	Variable type/Description
JobTypePseudoVariable	Job type: This variable is used to display the job type or data object type that is in use.
Comments	Chat desc from props: This variable is used to make the comment function available.
LastModificationDate	Datepicker: This variable is used to display the date of the last change.
SubJobs	Subjobs: This variable is used to make the functions required for sub-jobs or sub data objects available.
SystemPrice	Single inputline: This variable can be used to assign fixed or variable prices to the Service item types for the Marketing Shop.
default_media	Asset Selector: This variable is used to make the <i>Default media</i> variable available.
CurrentStepStartDate	Dynamic date: This variable is used to display the start date of the current workflow step.
JobState	Bean property: This variable is used to display the current workflow step.
TaskManager	Task Manager: This variable is used to make the functions for the Task Manager available; for Task Manager see page 132.
Themes	Description text: This variable can be used to assign one or more themes to the job or data object.
WorkflowObjectId	Workflow: This variable is used to display the workflow that is in use.
WorkflowStartDate	Dynamic date: This variable is used to display the start date of the workflow.

4.2.1 Task Manager

You can use tasks to plan and subdivide jobs or data objects in more detail. You can use the *Task Manager* and:

- Create the appropriate tasks for the workflow steps automatically using task templates.
- Enter the planned time required for a task.
- Post the actual time required for a task.
- Define the start and end date for the tasks and the assigned workflow steps.
- Assign individual tasks to a user for processing.

Note: The variable for the Task Manager is created by default. To use this function, you must place the element *Task Manager* on a single-column data sheet layout. Note that it is not possible to schedule individual workflow steps if the Task Manager is in use. The start and end date of the workflow steps and tasks are then provided from the Task Manager.

Name	Description
Unique name, technical name	See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Name displayed	Define the name with which the Task Manager is displayed on the data sheet.
	See Display, technical, and unique name see page 9.
Include weekends	Activate this checkbox to take weekends into account for the automatic recalculation of dates.
Help text	Define the help text that can be displayed to users.
Default Task Templates	Select a task template that is suitable for the workflow. When you create a job, the individual task steps for the assigned task are created automatically.
	Note: To use a task template together with a workflow, the number of task steps must be identical to the number of workflow steps.
Visibility	Activate the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> to display the variable only after a user has selected a specific value for a different selection field on the data sheet.
Variable*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated.
	You can choose the selection field upon whose value you want to make the visibility dependent.

When you create or configure the Task Manager, you define:

Name	Description			
Value*	Note: This is visible only if the checkbox <i>Visibility is depending on another variable</i> is activated. You can specify which value must be selected in order to display the variable.			

Та	sk Manager								
А	DD TASKS DELETE TASKS	CHANGE STATUS	•	MENU 🕶					
_	NAME	START	FIN	Expand all Collapse all		PLANNED	ACTUAL	REMAINI	
Ba				Insert from Template					
	Task 1 Find agency	03/21/2022	03/	Save as Template		02:00	00:00	00:00	0
Cr	eate Content			Scheduling Time Tracking period Lock Date					
	Basic Task 1 Choose media	03/22/2022	022 03/24/2022				00:00	00:00	0
	Task 2 Send media	03/25/2022	22 03/26/2022				00:00	00:00	0
Сг	eate Social Media								